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1 PT. Indo Bharat Rayon 25,500,001 25.37% 25.37%
2 Abha Investments Pte. Ltd. 15,000,000 14.93% 14.93%
3 Big Bayan Investments Pte. Ltd. 15,000,000 14.93% 14.93%
4 Blue Bucks Investments Pte. Ltd. 15,000,000 14.93% 14.93%
5 Calyx Investments Pte. Ltd. 15,000,000 14.93% 14.93%
6 Indogenious Holdings Pte. Ltd. 15,000,000 14.93% 14.93%
SINIRY 100,500,001 100.00% 100.00%

n: Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.
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1) Mr. Kumar Mangalam Birla NgIuN1T

2) Mr. Deepak Kumar Khandelwal NTTHNNT

3) Mr. Manish Kumar Tibrewal NgIuN1T

4) Mrs. Namrata Goyal n3IUN1T

(5) AgUg1ueMINIsRULAzRANMTALIUUTRIEYINALAURTD
(W2t : MUUEEYANTFLIULANLARAY IUNMITRUTIN FUFA 31 JUIAN
Wlushwrusaiu) 2562 2563 2564

Auninesu 2,979.08 3,847.19 5,280.37
WHAUIIN 2,550.29 4,494.15 4,517.50
Auresiiau 428.79 (646.96) 762.87
Nuannzide 100.50 100.50 100.50
PRI E - 6,886.69 6,069.33
AU U - 6,482.74 5,700.96
Anldanagan 0.21 208.63 211.73
mlagns (11.90) (28.77) 200.27
mls (@anw) Waaiaau (432.93) (921.77) 1,251.22
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Surya Kiran Invesiments Pre. Kid,
and its subsidiaries

Directors’ statement

Year ended 31 March 2021

Directors’ statement

We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the
andited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

In our opinion:

(a) the financial statements set out on pages FS1 to FS81 are drawn up so as to give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2021
and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act,
Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements
for issue.

Directors
The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Manish Kumar Tibrewal
Kumar Mangalam Birla
Deepak Kumar Khandelwal
Namrata Goyal

Directors’ intcrests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies
Act, Chapter 50 (the Act), no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests
in shares, debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either
at the beginning of the financial year or at the end of the financial year.

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any
artangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the director of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.



Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,
ard its subsidiaries

Directors’ statement

Year ended 31 March 2021

Share options
During the financial year, there were:

(i) no options granted by the Company and its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued
shares in the Company and its subsidiaries; and

(ii} no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissned shares of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

As at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its
subsidiaries under option.

Auditors

The auditors, Lau Chin Huat & Co, Chartered Accountants of Singapore, have indicaied their
willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

v

o

\
Manish Kumar Tibrewal
Director

Qe Ksrmat

LJ
Deepak Kumar Khandelwal
Director
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Independent auditors® report

Members of the Company
Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd. (‘the Company’)
and its subsidiaries (‘the Group®), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages
FS1 to FS81.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the
statement of financial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and Financial Reporting Standards in
Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and of the consolidated
financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group
for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (*SSAs’). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the *Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (*ACRA Code®) together
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Cther information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’® report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

3
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in deing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
tc continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concemn and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include oversecing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

s  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

¢  Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls.
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o  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management,

¢ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to eveats or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

*  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entifies or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
controls that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company
and by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the anditors have
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

ot T

LAU CHIN HUAT & CO
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

12 0CT 2001
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021

{Currency: In USD milifon}

Agsets

Property, plant and equipment
Right of use assets
Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Trade and other receivables
Equity-accounted investees
Other financial assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Other non-current assets
Deferred tax assets (net)
Non-current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Current tax assets

Other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

. Assets held for sale
Current assets
Total assets

Equity

Equity share capital
Merger reserve
Other equity

Equity attributable te owners of the Company

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Liabilities

Bommowings

Preference shares

Trade and other payables
Employee benefit obligations
Provisions

Other non-current liabilities
Lease liahilities

Deferred tax liabilities (net)
Non-current Jiabilities

Borrowings

Preference shares

Trade and other payables
Employee benefit obligations
Provisions

Other current liabilities
Lease liabilities

Current tax liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,

and its subsidiaries
Financial sictements
Year ended 31 March 2021
The Group The Company
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

3 578.16 606,70 — -
3A 22.64 17.89 - -
4 196.64 194.47 - -
5 52.03 91.49 - -
6 14.01 14.41 - -
7 1,660.94 600.27 - -
TA 740.59 366.69 191.16 68.47
7B - - 50252 502.52
g 12,42 15.06 - -
32 15.38 8.54 - -
3,29281  1,91552 693.68 570.99

g 475.78 3634t - -
6 801.03 718.88 - -
TA 267.58 484.47 931.32 880.33
2.47 11.30 - -

3 53.18 58.32 - -
10 371.41 282,39 1.26 0.87
197145  1,918.97 932,58 881.20

11 16.11 12.70 - -
1,587.56  1,931.67 932.58 881.20
5,280.37 3.847.19 1,626.26 1,452.19
100.50 100.50 100.50 100.50
(19907  (199.07) - -
364.31 {973.60) {118.13) (165.76)

265.74 (1,072.17) {17.65) (65.26)

497,13 42521 — —

762.87  (646.96) {17.65) {65.26)

12 1,68440 1,679.15 433.28 380.08
18 705.65 729.00 700.00 729.00
13 20,17 33.44 - -
15 27.47 40,37 - -
14 [.36 k.15 - -
16 9.4z 11.30 - -
17 12.43 11.57 - -
32 19.90 26,24 — —
2.480.80 2,532.22 1,133.28 1,109.08

12 107333 131161 47941 407.61
18 26,00 - 29.00 -
13 818.43 5356.15 2.03 0.73
15 10,65 271 - -
14 6.60 4.37 - .
16 65.08 47 .67 - -
17 7.87 3.68 - -
25,73 2074 0,19 0.03

2,036.70  1,961.93 510.63 408.37
451750 449415 1,643.91 1,517.45
5,280.37  3.847.19 1,626.26 1,452.19

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

FS1



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2021

(Currency: In USD million)

Revenue from operations
Cost of sales
Graoss profit

(Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary (Net)
Impairment loss on financial assets
Impairment of non-financial assets

Total operating expenses

Results from operating activities

Share of profit/(1oss) from equity-accounted investees
Other income

Finance income

Finance cost

Profit before taxes

Income tax expenses

Net profit/(loss) after tax

Surya Kiran Invesiments Pte. Ltd,
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
The Group
Note 2021 2020
1% 6,069.33 6,886.69

21 (5,700.96)  (6,482.74)
368.37 403.95

22 (177.60)  (174.50)
23 (13.95)  (15.50)
39 0.30 _
24 (15.50)  (12.94)
25 (4.98) (5.69)

(211.73)  (208.63)

156.64 195.32

7 11277 (72.32)
20 17.53 12.37
26 36.05 40.53
26 (89.02) (143.02)

233.97 32.88
32 (33.70)  (61.65)

20027  (28.77)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Surya Kiran invesiments Pre. Lid.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statemenis
Year ended 31 March 2021
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021
The Group
(Currency: In USD million) Note 2021 2020
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Items that are or may be reclassified snbsequently
to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences - foreign
operations 68.27 {96.19)
Share of other comprehensive income of equity- accounted
investees 7 874.62 (344.22)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Defined benefit plans remeasurements - net of tax 3.59 (8.07)
Gains/(Losses) on fair valuation of investments 29974 (473.29)
Total other comprehensive income 1,251.22 (921.77)
Total comprehensive income 1,451.49 {950.54)
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Group 128.20 {102.72)
Non-controlling interests 72.07 73.95
200.27 (28.77)
Total comprehensive incoine attributable to:
Owners of the Group 1,337.82 (966.19)
Non-controlling interests 113.67 15.65
1,451.49 (950.54)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Surya Kiran Investinents Pte. 1itd
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

Year ended 31 March 2021
Redeemable
non-
cumulative
Equity preference Currency Non-
share shares  translation Other Retained  Fair value Merger controlling  Total
{Currency: In USD mitlion) capital  reserves reserve  reserves  earnings reserve reserve Total interest equity
The Group
Balance as at 1 April 2019, as previously stated 100.50 3.38 (29.06y 99.02 130.09 (296.34) (199.07) (191.48) 517.07 325.59
Prior year adjustments - - 0.48 - 102,72 — - 103.20 - 103.20
Balance as at 1 April 2019, as restated 100.50 3.38 (28.58) 99.02 232.81 (296.34) (199.07) (88.28) 517.07 428.79
Net (loss) after tax - - - - (102.72) - - (102.72) 73.95 (28.77)
Other comprehensive income - - (39.53) - (34793 {476.02) - (863.47) (58.30) (9277
Total comprehensive income - - (39.53) - (450.64) (476.02) - (966.19) 1565 (950.54)
Transaction with owners of the Group
Cash dividend - - - - - - - - (11.43) {11.43)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest - - 036 18.05 (32.73) - - (14.32) (95.80) (110.12)
Contribution by non-controiling interest - - - - - - - - (0.28) (0.28)
Conversion of preference shares rights - (3.38) — - - - — (3.38) — (3.38)
Total contribution and distributions - (3.38) 036 1805 (32.7%) - - {17.70) (107.51) {125.21)
Tatal transactions with owners of the Group - {3.38) 036 1805 (32.73) - - {17.70) (107.51)  (125.21)
Balance as at 31 March 2020 100.50 - (67.75) 117.07 (250.56) (772.36) (199.07) (11,0721 43521  (646.96)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continned)

Year ended 31 March 2021

{Currency: In USD miilion)
The Group
Balance as at 1 April 2020

Net profit after tax
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Transaction with owmners of the Group

Cash dividend

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Note 39)

Financial liability under option arrangement (Note 29)
Total contribution and distributions

Change in ownership interest

Acqguisition of non-controlling interests without
change in control

Transaction cost reversal on purchase of additional
stake in previous year

Total change in ownership interests

Total transactions with ovners of the Group

Balance as at 31 March 2021

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Surya Kiran Investments Ple. Lid,

Financial statements

and its subsidiaries

Year ended 31 March 2021
Redeemable
non-
cumulative
Equity preference Currency Non-

share shares  translation Other Retained Fairvalue  Merger controlling  Total

capital reserves reserve  reserves earnings reserve TesErve Total interest equity
100.50 - (67.75) 117.07 (250.56) (772.36) (199.07) (107217 42521 {(646.96)
- - - - 12820 - - 128.20 72.07 200.27
- - 17.97 - 891.62 300.03 — 1,200.62 41.60 125122
- - 17.97 - 1,019.82 300.03 - 1,337.82 113.67 1,45149
- - - - - - - - {26.84) (26.84)
- - (0.26) - - - - 0.26) (4.85) (5.11)
- - - - (1.42) - — {1.42) (3.13 (4.55)
- - (0.26) - (1.42) — - {1.68) {34.82) (36.50)
- - (0.11) - 1.80 - - 1.69 {7.00) (5.31)
- - - - 0.08 - - 0.08 0.07 0.15
- - {0.11) - i.88 - — 1.77 {6.93) {5.16)
- - {0.37) - 046 - - 0.00 {41.75) (41.66)
100.50 - (50.15) 117.07 769.72 (472.33) (199.07) 26574 497.13 762.87
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Surya Kiran Investmenis Pe. Ltd.
and ifs subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2027

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021

{Currency: In USD million)

A

Share capital

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd. has 100,500,001 ordinary share capital. All issued shares
are fully paid up, with no par value. Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the
Company.

Merger reserve

In applying book value accounting in case of common control transaction, any difference
between the consideration paid and the capital of the acquiree is reflected in equity as merger
reserve.

Nature and purpose of reserves

i

iii

iv

Retained earnings

Retained eamings represent the amount of accumulated earmings/(losses) at each
statement of financial position date of the Group, prepared in accordance with the basis
of preparation section.

Currency translation reserve

Currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations included in these
financial statements.

Other reserves
Other reserves mainly include legal reserve which represents amounts set aside for
subsidiaries in Korea and Egypt in compliance with local laws of those countries.

Fair value reserve

Fair value reserve represents the net fair value gain /loss on equity instruments held by
the Company and its subsidiaries accumulated under other comprehensive income
which will not be reclassified to profit and less.

Other comprehensive income accumulated in retained earnings, net of tax amounts to USD
8.59 million (202¢: USD 8.07 million).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial staternents.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash. Flows
Year ended 31 March 2021

{Currency: In USD million)

Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit/(loss) after tax

Adjustments {o reconcile net profit/(loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortisation

Finance incoms

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary (Net)

Share of (profit)/loss of equity-accounted investees

Lossg on fair valuation of equity investments measured at FVTPL

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment

Finance cost

Tax expense

Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Dividend income

Other investment income

Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign currency translation

Interest income related to sales

Net measurement of derivative instruments

Changes in:

{Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in other assets

(Increase)/Decrease in inventories
Increasef(Decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities

Increase in provisions

Net cash generated from operating activities before income
tax

Income taxes paid

Net cash generated by operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangibles

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and
intangibles

Tnvestment in associate

Acquisition of subsidiary

Investment in compulsory convertible debenture

Purchase of investment securities

Investment in convertible promissory note

Interest received

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Surya Kiran Investinents Pte. Lid.

and ifs subsidiaries
Financiol statemenis
Year euded 31 March 2021
The Group
2021 2020
200.27 (28.77)
117.11 119.56
(36.05) (38.09)
(0.30) -
(112.77 72.32
4.61 -
(0.03) (0.13)
69.05 143.02
33.70 61.65
4,98 5.69
18.05 5.13
(16.83) -
(0.10) (0.04)
17.27 (11,37
5.54 15.46
(2.45) 7.77
302.05 352.20
(85.99) 67.97
3.82 31.78
(108.42) 90.57
259.35 (187.22)
14.98 {6.63)
1.60 7.43
85.34 3.90
387.39 356.10
(43.30) (73.95)
344.09 282.15
(41.08) (102.64)
1.05 0.98
(54.62) (177.87)
- (397.81)
(102.57) -
(5.98) {566.86)
(2.50) -
3243 23.45
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021

(Currency: In USD million)

Dividend received

Purchase of intercorporate deposits

Proceeds on maturity of inter corporate deposits

Bank and other short term deposits redemptions; net of
placements

Sale of mutual funds and other investments (net of purchase)

Effect of deconsolidation of subsidiary (note 39)

Net cash generated from/ (used in) investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings

Advance from related party

Proceeds from borrowings

Interest paid

Interest paid on lease liabilities

Redemption of preference shares

Issue of preference shares

Proceeds from settlement of derivatives

Deferred loan fees paid

Dividend to non-controlling interests

Acquisition of shares from non-controlling interests
Payment of lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning

Effect of movement in exchange rate on cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end (Note 10)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Surva Kiran Investinents Pre. Ltd.

and ifs subsidiaries

Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021

The Group
2021 2020
17.63 0.86
(70.14) (268.49)
133.13 86.83
105.80 (8.83)
94.82 11.73
{(0.15) -
107.82 (1,398.65)
(1,073.63) (1,327.73)
71.80 539.45
762.10 2,264.70
(87.24) (101.27)
(1.41) (1.03)
- (25.00)
5.65 20.00
0.79 0.80
(0.29) (22.91)
(26.82) (11.43)
(5.15) (110.12)
(6.03) (6.0
(365.23) 1,219.43
86.68 102.93
282.39 183.88
2.34 (4.42)
371.41 282.39
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2.1

2.2

2.3

Surya Kiran Invesiments Pte, Ltd.
and jis subsidiaries

Financial stafements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the financial statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 October 2021,
Reporting entity

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd. (the “Company”} is a company incorporated in Singapore. The
registered office of the Company is located at 65 Chulia Street #48 - 05/08 QCBC Centre
Singapore 049513. The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding
company. There has been no significant change in the nature of the activity during the financial
year. The financial statements of the Group comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in equity-accounted investees.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation of financial statements

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”), under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis
except for certain financial instruments (including derivative instruments), assets held for sale and
defined benefit plan assets which have been measured at fair values, Accounting policies have
been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements,
except where disclosed otherwise.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the entities within the Group are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the respective entity operates
(*the functional currency”). These consolidated financial statements are presented in United
States Dollar 'USD’, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information
presented in United States Dollar has been rounded to the nearest million, unless otherwise stated.
The functional currency of subsidiaries within the Group include the United States Dollar (USD),
Thai Baht (THB), Indian Rupees (INR), Korean Won, Hungarian Forint, Renminbi, Brazilian
Real, Canadian Dollar, Great Britain Pound and the Euro. All accounts have been rounded to the
nearest USD million, unless otherwise indicated.

Use of judgment and estimates

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates,
and assumptions that affect the application of Group accounting policies and reported amount of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Management believes that the estimates made in
preparation of the financial statements are reasonable. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to
estimates are recognised prospectively.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies, as well as estimates and

assumptions that have the most significant effect to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are included in the following notes:
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Measurement of defined benefit obligations — Note 30

Measurement of ECL allowance for trade receivables — Note 35

Measurement of net realisable value of Inventory and obsolete inventory — Note 9
Measurement and likelihood of occurrence of provisions and contingencies — Note 33
Impairment of goodwill — key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections —Note 4

peRpop

Changes in accounting policies

New standards and amendments

The Group has applied the following FRSs, amendments to and interpretations of FRSs for the
first time for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2020:

- Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in FRS Standards

- Definition of a Business (Amendments to FRS 103)

- Definition of Material (Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS §)

- Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to FRS 109, FRS 39 and FRS 107)

The application of these amendments to standards and interpretations does not have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its control over the entity.

‘When determining voting rights for the purpose of establishing the Group's degree of control aver
a company and the appropriate consolidation method, potential voting rights are taken into
account where they can be freely exercised or converted at the time the assessment is determined.
Potential voting rights are instruments such as call options on ordinary shares outstanding on the
market or rights to convert bonds into ordinary shares,

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries have been consolidated using the uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances as mentioned in the
policies.

Refer the note 40 with respect to the list of the entities which are consolidated as subsidiaries in
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Potential voting rights were considered in determining the Company’s control over one of its
subsidiaries, Birla Carbon (Thailand) Public Company Limited (“BCT”), which accrue through
call options exercisable at the discretion of SKI Carbon Black Mauritius Limited (step down
subsidiary)} within 3 years at prices based on fair value principle.

Non-controlling interests (*NCI’)

NCI are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at
the date of acquisition,

F510



Gii)

@iv)

(v)

2.6

Surya Kiran Investmenis Pie. Lid.
and its substdiaries

Financia! staterments

Year ended 31 Muarch 2021

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions,

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when conirol is lost.

Investments in associates and joint ventures (equity-accounted investees)
The Group's interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates,

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint
control over the financial and ¢perating policies.

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at
cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and QCI of equity-accounted investees,
until the date on which significant influence ceases.

Refer to note 7 with respect to the list of entities which are equity-accounted as associates in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-
group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the invesiee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment,

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course of business is recognised when
the Group satisfies a performance obligation (PQ) by transferring control of a promised good or

service to the customer. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price
allocated to the satisfied PO.

The transaction price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-
alone selling prices of the promised goods or services. The individual standalone selling price of
a good or service that has not previously been sold on a stand-alone basis, or has a highly variable
selling price, is determined based on the residual portion of the transaction price after allocating
the transaction price to goods and/or services with observable stand-alone selling prices. A
discount or variable consideration is allocated to one or more, but not all, of the PO if it relates
specifically to those POs,
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The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the contract to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The transaction price
may be fixed or variable and is adjusted for time value of money if the contract includes a
significant financing component. Consideration payable to a customer iz deducted from the
transaction price if the Group does not receive a separate identifiable benefit from the customer.
When consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in the transaction price to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved.

Income from services rendered is recognised based on agreements/arrangements with the
customers as the service is performed in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction
at the reporting date and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, net of indirect taxes, as
applicable.

Refer to note 19 for further information on accounting policies for revenue.,
Finance income and finance cost

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

+ jnterest income;

interest expense;

dividend income;

the net gain or loss on the disposal of debt investments valued at FVOC]I; and
the net gain or loss of financial assets at FVTPL.

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is
recognised in profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

*  the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

s the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the
gross basis.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised borrowing
costs, less accumulated depreciation and any accurnulated impairment losses. Subsequent costs are
included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they
are accounted for as separate items (major compenents) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of assets carried at cost are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Depreciation is calculated on the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally
recognised in profit or loss. Leasehold properties are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives unless it is reagonably certain that the Group will ebtain ownership by the end of the
lease term, Frechold land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are
as follows:

Building and improvements 20 — 60 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5-125 years
Furniture 3 ~12 years
Office equipment 3 - 10 years
Vehicles 4~ 8§ years
Shipping vessels 16 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate.

Property, plant and equipment not ready for the intended use are disclosed as “Construction work-in-
progress”.

Assets retirement obligation/decommissioning Hability

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes, where applicable, costs of its dismantlement,
removal or restoration, and any obligation which an entity incurs as a consequence of installing
the item. The cost of dismantlement, removal or restoration is depreciated based on the respective
life of asset. The Group estimates incremental cost for removal and disposal and any special
handling of materials that give rise to conditional asset retirement obligations (“ARO") and which
are then discounted back to the current year using a credit adjusted discount rate.

The estimation of ARQ is subject to a number of inherent uncertainties that include (a) the timing
of when any ARO may be incurred, (b) the ability to accurately identify and reasonably estimate
the costs of special handling or treatment, (¢} the ability to access the relative probability of
different scenarios that could give rise to an ARQ, and (d) other factors outside the Group’s
control, including change in regulation, costs, and interest rate.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Recognition and measurement

Goodwill acquired in business combination

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses,

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Development

expenditure is capitalised only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process
is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group
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intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset,
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Cther intangible assets

Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, patents and trademarks, that are
acquired by the Group and have finite estimated useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The emission allowances received under the European Union (“EU”) emissions trading system
(“"ETS”) are considered as government grants in the nature of intangible assets. The intangible
assets and government grants are valued at zero cost in the case of the Group and accordingly, are
not recorded on the statement of financial position. To the extent the Group has adequate emission
allowances to meet its emission obligations, no provision is made in the books; provisions are
made in respect of any shortfall in emission allowances.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditures are capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures, including expenditure
on internaily generated goodwill and brands, are recognised in profit or loss as incurred,
Amortisation

Amortisation is calcufated to write off the cost of intangible assets Jess their estimated residuval
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised
in profit or loss. Goodwill is not amertised. Indefinite-life intangible assets are not amortised but
tested for impairment annually. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for finite-
life intangible assets are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if
appropriate.

Developed technology, customer relationships and others 5 - 10 years
Software Technology 3 - 5 years

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrving amounts of its non-financial assets {other
than inventories and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment,

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continwing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets
or cash generating units (“CGUs™). Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to
CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synexgies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use (“VIU™) and its fair
value less costs to sell. VIU is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time valve of
money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

FS14



2.12

2,13

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Yeqr ended 31 March 2021

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in the subsequent period. For other
assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation,
if no impairment loss had been recognised,

Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the extent regarded
as an adjustment to the borrowing costs.

Lease

The Group’s lease assets classes primarily consist of leases for Land and Buildings and Plant &
Equipment. The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract.
A confract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

(i) the contract involves the use of an identified asset

(i) the group has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the
period of the lease and

(iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset (“ROU™)
and a corresponding lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for
leases with a term of twelve months or less {short-term leases) and leases of low value assets. For
these short-term and leases of low value assets, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The right-of-use assets are
initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for
any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct
costs less any lease incentives,

They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if
any. Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date ¢n a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and useful life of the underlying asset.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments. The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable,
using the incremental borrowing rates. The lease liability is subsequently remeasured by
increaging the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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A lease liability is remeasured upon the occurrence of certain events such as a change in the lzase
term or a change in an index or rate used to determine lease payments. The remeasurement
normally also adjusts the leased assets.

Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease
payments have been classified as financing cash flows.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinuing operation

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as “held for sale” if it is highly
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing nse.

Non-current assets held for sale/distribution to owners and disposal groups are measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and the fair value less costs to sell/distribute.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale/distribution to
owners are not depreciated or amortised.

Financial assets and financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provision of the instrument,

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) or financial liability at its fair value plus, for an item not at
FVTPL, iransaction cosis that are directly atiributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial
asset or liability, A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Management determines the classification of its financial assets and liabilities at initial
recognition of the instrument or at the time of reclassification.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is
not designated as at FVTPL:

» Itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

» s contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCT

A debt investment is classified as subsequently measured at FVOCI if both the following
conditions are met and the debt investment is not designated at FVTPL:
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¢ Tt is held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets, and

¢ Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI’) on the principal amount outstanding.

Equity investments af FVOCI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held-for-trading, the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCIL This
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are measured at FVTPL unless it is measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI on
initial recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
and liabilities at FVTPL are immediately recognised in statement of comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments are measured at FVTPL.
Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest
or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss,

Financial assets at amortised cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
amortised cost is reduced by impairment osses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss,

Debt investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in
profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI, On derecognition, gains and losses
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investinents at FVOCT

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.
Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost except for derivative
liabilities which are measured at FVTPL.

FS17



Gii)

(iv)

(v)

Surva Kiran Investments Pie. Lrd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial staterments

Year ended 31 March 202}

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are
transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire.

Offsetting of financial instrmnents

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position when, and enly when, the Group currently has z legally enforceable right to set off
the amounts and it intends to either settle them on a net basis or realise the asset and liability
simultaneougly,

Impairment of non-derivative financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on-financial instruments
measured at amortised cost.

The Group recognises lifetime expected losses for all trade receivables and contract assets. For
all other financial assets, ECL are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL or at an
amount equal to the life time ECL if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers historical experience, credit
assessments and forward looking information,

If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss allowance
based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

The Group’s trade receivables relate mainly to receivables arising from the sale of products. The Group
maintaing a system of credit reviews starting with an initial internal review for new customers and
thereafter periodic reviews to assess credit-worthiness. The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due except in case of trade
receivables wherein it considers amounts more than 180 days past due to have significantly increased
credit risk since based on the Group’s past experience and considering the nature of industry it operates
in and the customers it serves, it has generally collected amounts past due 30 days and less than 180
days.

At each reparting date, the Group calculates the ECL based on a 24 month review of past impairments,
future expectations based on information available at the balance sheet date and uses an industry
recognised report to assess the future of the Group’s customer base based on worldwide auto and tire
production.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
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¢ The debtor is unlikely to pay its obligations in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or
¢ The financial asset is more than 90 days past due (in case of trade receivables 180 days past due).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at FVQCT are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes the following observable data:

¢ significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
a breach of contract such as a default;
*  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;
it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
The disappearance of an active market for a security becaunse of financial difficulties,

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group makes
an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a
reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from amounts
written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities based on the procedures determined by the Group for recovery of amounts due,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, term deposits with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments. To be classified as cash and cash equivalents, the financial asset must
be readily convertible into cash and have an insignificant risk of changes in value.,

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services rendered in the
normal course of business. Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequenily,
these assets are held at amortised cost, using the effective interest method,

Trade payables

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequently these liabilities are held at
amortised cost, using the effeciive interest method.

Financial liability under option arrangement

Put options held by non-controlling interests in the Group’s subsidiaries entitle the non-
controlling interest to sell their interest in the subsidiary to the Group. In such cases the Group
recognises the fair value of the non-controlling interest's put option as a financial liability, being
the present value of the estimated future purchase price, as a financial liability in the statement of
financial position. In raising this Lability, the non-controlling interest is derecognised and any
excess or shortfall is charged or realised directly in retained eamings in the statement of changes
in equity,

The financial liability is fair valued at the end of each financial year and any changes in the value
of the liability as a result of changes in assumptions used to estimate the future purchase price are
recorded directly in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity.
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Income on financial assets
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method,

Dividend income on investments is recognised when the right fo receive dividend is established.

Fair value measurements

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values.
This includes a valuation team that has overail responsibility for overseeing all significant fair
values measurements, including Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the management.

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.
If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used {o measure fair values,
then the valvation team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the
conclusion that these valuations meet the requirements of FRS, including the level in the fair value
hierarchy in which the valuations should be classified.

All assets and liabilities for which fair values are measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the following fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

¢ Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

® Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices),

* Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is computed on a
weighted average basis. Cost of finished goods and work-in-progress include all costs of
purchases, conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. In case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost include an
appropriate share of fixed production overheads based on normal operating capacity. The net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will be
received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grants. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates
10 an asset, it 1s recognised as income over the expected useful life in a pattern of consumption of
the benefit of the underlying asset.
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When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at
fair value amounts.

When Ioans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions, with an
interest rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favourable interest is
regarded as a government grant.

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, which will likely result in an outflow of resources, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability, If there are a number of similar obligations,
the probability that there will be an outflow of economic benefits is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole.

Amortisation of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from past events,
the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group or a present obligation that
arises from past events where it is either not probable that an oniflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation or a reliable estimate of the amount cannot be made,

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans represent a fixed contribution into a fund under which the Group has
no legal or constructive obligations to make future payments if the fund does not have sufficient
assets to pay all of the employee’s entitlements to post-employment benefits. The obligations to
payment to such funds are recognised in profit or loss in the periods during which related services
are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans are retirement plans under which amounts to be paid as retirement benefits
are determined by reference to a formula usually based on employees’ earnings and/or years of

service.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each
plan,
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Surya Kiran Investiments Fte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial siatements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annnally by a qualified actuary using
the projected unit credit method i.e. by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value
of any plan assets. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to
any applicable minimum funding requirements.

The defined benefit plan surplus or deficit on the statement of financial position comprises the
total fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit liabilities (using a
discount rate by reference to market yields on government bonds at the end of the reporting
period).

Recognition of defined benefit cost
All the current service cost determined is charged to the profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resnlting change in benefit
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when
the settlernent occurs.

The amount of net interest expense calculated by applying the liability discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability or asset is charged or credited to profit or loss.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding
interest), are recognised immediately in OCL

Assumptions

With the objective of presenting the assets and liabilities of the pensions and other post-
employment benefit plans at their fair value on the statement of financial position, assumptions
under FRS 19 are set by reference to market conditions at the valuation date. The actuarial
assumptions used to calculate the benefit liabilities vary according to the country in which the
plan is situated.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is
transferred to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at
fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually
for impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity
securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation
to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as
equity, then it is not remeasured and seitlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other
contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.
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and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards
held by the acquiree’s emplovees (acquiree’s awards), then all or a portion of the ameunt of the
acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the
business combination. This determination is based on the market-based measure of the
replacement awards compared with the market-based measure of the acquiree’s awards and the
extent to which the replacement awards relate to pre-combination service.

As part of transition to FRS, the Group elected not to restate those business combinations that
occurred before the date of transition to FRS, ie. 1 April 2017. Goodwill arising from
acquisitions before 1 April 2017 has been carried forward from the previous FRS framework as
at the date of transition.

Income taxes

Income tax on the profits of the year comprises both current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity
or in QCT.

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on profits or tax receivable on losses, calculated on enacted
or substantively enacted rates as at the reporting date and any adjustment to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if the Group has a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and intend to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

1.  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is
not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

ii. temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates to the extent that the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

iii, taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which they can be used.

Future taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group and the reversal of temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised. Such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits
improve,
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and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2G21

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured at fair valve in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into USD at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. For practical reasons,
the group uses a monthly average rate to translate income and expense items. The exchange
differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in QCI. When a foreign
operation is disposed of such that control or significant influence is lost, the cumulative amount
in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of
the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reattributed to NCI., When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an
associate that includes a foreign operation while retaining significant influence, the relevant
proporticn of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Surva Kiran Investinents Ple. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Property, plant and equipment
Plant, Furniture
Building machinery and Construction
and and office Shipping work-in-
(Currency: In USD mitlion) Land improvements equipment equipment Vehicles vessels Total progress Total
A) B) (A +B)
The Group
Cost
At 1 April 2019 34.93 15092 923.56 17.11 279 - 1,129.31 79.35 1,208.66
Acquisitions pursuant to business
combination {Note 38} - 5.13 0.83 1.60 0.96 19.28 27.80 — 27.80
Acquisitions - 8.92 94.55 2.84 1.05 0.67 108.03 (7.4 100.54
Disposals - (1.03) 23.44) {0.90) (0.9 - (26.38) (2.45} {28.83)
Write-off/Impairment loss - - - - - - - (5.69) (5.69)
Asset held for sale (0.83) (0.02) - - - - (0.85) - (0.85)
Translation difference (1.55) (9.45) (53.15) (1.12) (0.26) - (65.53) 4.44) {69.57)
At 3] March 2020 32.55 154.45 942.35 19.53 3.35 19.95 1,172.38 59.28 1,231.66
At 1 April 2020 32.55 15445 94235 19.53 3.55 19.95 1,172.38 59.28 1,231.66
Acquisitions - 5.85 45.11 0.83 0.16 - 52.00 (9.90) 42.10
Disposals - (0.14) (9.72) {2.13) (0.62) - {12.61) — {12.61)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary {Note 39) - - - {0.04) (0.05) - (0.09}) (15.38) (15.47)
Asset held for sale {4.31) - - - - - 4.31) - 4.31)
Translation difference 1.38 7.12 2715 043 .01 - 36.09 2.29 38.38
At 31 March 2021 2062 . 167.28  1,004.89 18.67 3.05 19.95 1,243.46 36.29 1,279.75
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Currency: In USD million)
The Group

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss

At 1 April 2019

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

Translation difference

At 31 March 2020

At 1 April 2020

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

Deconsolidation of a subsidiary (Note 39)
Translation difference

At 31 March 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019

At 31 March 2020
At 31 March 2021

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Lid.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Plant, Furniture
Building  machinery and Construction
and and office Shipping work-in-
Land improvements equipment equipment  Vehicles vessels Total ProOgress Total
(4) (B) (A +B}
- 56,35 340,73 12.46 143 - 610.97 - 610.97
- 7.49 61.73 2.07 0.86 1.20 73.35 - 73.35
- (1.03) (22.7% (0.86) (0.34) - (25.54) - (25.54)
- (3.42) (29.57) (0.68) (0.15) - (33.82) = (33.82)
- 59.37 550.10 12.99 1.30 1.20 524.96 — 624.96
- 59.37 550.10 12.99 1.30 1.20 624.96 - 624.96
- 7.48 59.85 2.08 0.26 118 70.85 - 70.85
- (0.14) (8.94) {2.12) (0.41) - {1161} - {11.61)
- - - {0.02) (0.03) - {0.05} - {0.05)
- 2.57 14.52 0.31 D.04 - 17.44 - 17.44
— 69.28 615.53 13.24 1.16 2.38 701.59 — T01.59
34.93 94.57 382,33 4.65 1.36 - 518.34 79.35 597.69
32.55 95.08 392,25 6.54 2.25 18.75 34742 59.28 606,70
29.62 98.00 380.36 5.43 1.89 17.57 541.87 36.29 578.16

The Group has reclassified leasehold property and equipment talen on lease to [and and plant, machinery and equipment respectively on ransition to FRS116 on 1 April 2019.

During the previous year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has decided to discontinue the construction of its Cogeneration plant in Canada. As a result of this decision, the Group
recorded USD 5.69 million of non-financial impairment loss and reclassified USD 0.9 million of CIP to asset available for sale. During the current year, the Group has wrilien off
this asset held for sale balance in profit and loss.

During the current year ended 31 March 2021, a plet of land having book value USD 4.3] million has been identified as asset held for sale in Egypt. The Group is in process of
negotiations with potential buyers for selling the assets hild for sale.
For contractual commitments with respect to property, plant and equipment, refer to note 28,
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3A Right of Use Assets

(Currency: In USD million)
The Group

Cost

At 1 April 2019

Recognition of right of use asset on
initial application of FRS 116

Adjusted balance as 1 April 2019

Acquisitions pursuant to business
combination {refer to note 38)

Acquisitions

Disposals

Translation difference

At 31 March 2020

At 1 April 2020
Acquisitions
Disposals

Translation difference
At 31 March 2021

Surya Kiran Investinents Pte. Ltd,

and ity subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Plant, Furniture
Building machinery and
and and office
Land improvements equipment equipment Vehicles Total
4,21 - 4.45 - - 8.66
1.04 L.42 1.47 0.01 0.50 4.44
525 1.42 592 0.01 0.50 13.10
0.37 1.73 - - - 2.10
0.06 0.59 9.87 0.08 0.08 10.68
- - - - (0.01) (001}
(0.33) {0.06) 0.34) - (0.02) (0.75)

5.35 3.68 1545 009 .55 25.12
535 3.68 1545 0.09 0.55 2512
1.69 4.53 458 ~ 0.10 10,90
- (0.26) (1.43) - {0.08) 13D
027 0.05 .31 0.01 0.04 0.68
7.31 8.00 18.91 0.10 0.61 34,93
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Currency: In USD million}
The Group

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss

At ] April 2019

Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals

Translation difference

At 31 March 2020

At 1 April 2020

Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals

Translation difference

At 31 March 2021

Carrying amounts
At 1 April 2019

At 31 Macch 2020
At 31 March 2021

Refer note 17 for further details relating to leases.

Surya Kiran Investiments Pte. Ftd.

and its subsidiaries

Financial statemenis

Year ended 31 Marcit 2021

Plant, Fuorniture
Building machinery and
and and office
Land improvements equipment equipment Vehicles Total
1.51 - 0.19 - - 1.70
Q.15 1.67 3.32 0.03 0.43 5.60
©.07) - - = - (0.07)

1.59 1.67 3.51 0.03 043 7.23
1.59 1.67 3.51 0.03 0.43 123
0.15 1.92 4.22 0.03 0.22 6.54
- (0.26) (1.43) - {0.07) (L.76)
0.11 0.03 0.12 - 0.02 0.28
1.85 3.36 6.42 0.06 0.60 12.29
3.74 1.42 5.73 0.01 0.50 11.40
3176 201 11.94 0.06 .12 17.89
5.46 4.64 12.49 0.04 0.01 22.64
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Surya Kiran Invesiments Pte, Ltd,
and its subsidiariex

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s operating
regions. The aggregated carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

The Group

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Europe 20.29 15.10
South America 712 7.80
North America 19.91 19.64
Far East Asia 18.97 17.59
South Asia 0.17 0.16
In reiation to the Group’s international bulk commeodity

trading business (SSOE) 130.18 130.18
Gross total 196.64 194.47
Reconciliation of change in carrying value of goodwill

Carrying

(Currency: In USD million) amount
At 1 April 2019 69.29
Effect of foreign currency transiation (net) (5.00)
Acquisition through business combination 130.18
At 31 March 2020 194.47
At 1 April 2020 194.47
Effect of foreign currency translation (net) 2.17
At 31 March 2021 196.64

Assumptions used in calculating the discounted cash flows
31 March 2021
South North Far East
SSOE Europe America  America Asia

Weighted average cost of

capital 10.80% 13.50% 14.20% 12.10% 12.50%
Long-term sustainable
growth rates 2.50% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%
31 March 2020
South North Far East
SSOE Europe America  America Asia

Weighted average cost of

capital 10.70% 11.43% 12.12% 10.05% 10.35%
Long-term sustainable
growth rates 2.90% 1.00% 3.90% 1.80% 2.70%

FS29



Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,
and iis subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 Marclh 2021

The change in goodwill from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 in relation to the Group’s carbon
black business is entirely due to currency translation. The goodwill in relation to the Group’s
international bulk commodity trading business amounting to USD 130.18 million has arisen
pursuant to the business acquisition of Swiss Singapore Overseas Enterprises Pte Ltd (SSOE")
during previous year ended 31 March 2020. Refer to note 38 or further details relating to the
acquisition.

The recoverable amount for each CGU was based on value in use estimated by using discounted
cash flows.

The discount rate was a pre-tax measure estimated based on the historical industry average
weighted-average cost of capital, with a possible debt leveraging of 30% to 40% at market interest
1ates.

The cash flow projections for all CGUs included specific estimates for 5 years and a terminal
growth rate thereafter. The terminal growth rate was determined based on management’s estimate
of the long-term compounded annual EBITDA growth rate,

Financial forecasts for all CGUs were prepared taking into account past experience, forecasts of
volume growth and movement in oil prices.

In relation to the carbon black business and international commodity trading business, based on

sengitivity analyses performed around the base assumptions, there are no reasonably possible
changes in a key assumption that would cause the carrying amount to exceed recoverable amount.
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Surya Kiran Investiments Pte. Ltd.
and s subsidiaries

Financial stotements

FYear ended 31 March 2021

Other intangible assets
Other Toatal
Developed Customer Trade Software intangible  Patentsand  Licenses & Non-compete intangible

{Currency: In USD miliion) technology  relationships names technology asset Know-How  Certificates fees assets
The Group
Cost
At 1 April 2019 164.60 49.06 18.00 18.08 042 0.90 Q.15 - 251.21
Acquisitions arising on business

combination (refer (o note 38) - 76.00 - 0.64 0.16 - - - 76.80
Acquisitions - - - 0.16 0.04 - - - 0.20
Translation difference - (1.24) - {1.76) {0.24) {0.07) {0.01) - {3.32)
Al 31 March 2020 164.60 123.82 18.00 17.12 0.38 0.83 0.14 - 324.89
At 1 April 2020 164.60 12382 18.00 17.12 0.38 0.83 0.14 - 324.89
Acquisitions - - - 012 - - - - 0.12
Translation difference — 0.95 — 0.05 0.10 0.02 - - L.12
At 31 March 2021 164.60 124.77 18.00 17.29 0.48 0.83 0.14 — 326.13
Accumunlated depreciation
Atl April 2019 128.12 37.86 14.01 14,13 0.31 0.90 Q.15 - 195.48
Amortisation charge for the year 16.46 20.02 1.80 227 0.06 - - - 40.61
Translation diffarence — {1.02) - {1.40) (0.18) (0.07) {0.01) - {2.69)
At 31 March 2020 144.58 0,86 15.81 1500 0.18 .83 0.14 — 233.40
At 1 April 2020 14458 56.86 15.81 15.00 0.18 083 0.14 - 233.40
Amortisation charge for the year 16.46 20.01 1.80 1.40 0.05 - - - 39.72
Translation difference - 0.83 - .07 0.06 0.02 — - 0.93
At 31 March 2021 161.04 77.70 17.61 1647 0.29 0.35 0.14 - 274.10
Carrying amounts ’
At 31 Maech 2020 20.02 66.96 2.19 2.12 0.20 - - - 91,49
At 31 March 2021 3.56 4707 0.39 0.32 0.19 - - - 52.03

The amortisation of other intangible assets is included in ‘cost of sales’, ‘selling, general and administrative expenses” and ‘research and development
expenses’,
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte, Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Trade and other receivables
The Group
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Non-current
Security deposits 12.89 12.61
Other receivables 1.12 1.80
14.01 14.41
Current
Trade receivables® 826,42 736.15
Impairment loss on trade receivables (41.64) (25.31)
Coniract receivables 1.96 1.06
Other receivables 14.29 7.48
801.03 718.88

* Details of trade receivables from related parties is included in note 31.

The Group and Company’s exposure to credit and currency risks, losses for trade and other receivables
are included in note 35.

Equity-accounted investees

(Currency: In USD million) The Group
Principal place
of business /
Country of  Measurement
Investments in associates incorporation method . = 2021 2020
Name of enfity

P.T Indo Liberty Textiles, (engaged in
textile manufacturing) Indonesia Equity method 7.94 9.71

Aditya Birla Chemicals (Thailand)
Limited, (engaged in chemical

manufacturing) Thailand Equity method 140.43 129.60
Essel Mining and Industries Limited,
{engaged in mining and metals) India Equity method 1,512.57 460.96
Total 1,660.94 600.27
P.T Indo Liberty  Aditya Birla Chemicals Essel Mining and
Textiles (Thailand) Limited Industries Limited
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Ownership interest 40.00% 40.00% 20.99% 29.99% 49.00% 49.00%
Non-current assets 6823 7259 47324 459.99 3,244.79 1,335.08
Current assets 2530 2643 21631 191,87 479.99 25321
Non-current liabilities (38.62) (39.87) (40.30) (72.38) (227.92) (187.23)
Current liabilities (35.06) (34.89) (181.00) (147.35) (379.45) (434.78)
Net assets (100%) 19.85 2428 46825 432.13 3,117.41 966.28
Less: Non-controlling interests - - - - (30.55) (25.46)
19.85 2428 46825 432.13 3,086.86 940.82
Group’s share of net assets 7.94 9.71 14043 129.60 1,512.57 460.96
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
P.T Indo Liberty = Aditya Birla Chemicals Esse]l Mining and Industries
Textiles (Thailand) Limited Limited
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Ownership interast 40.00%  40.00% 25.99% 28.99% 49.00% 49.00%
Revenue 87.46 105,27 518.16 488.16 74107 699.43
Net (loss) / profit (4.53) (1.64) 19.90 2578 221.66 (162.04)
Other comprehensive income 0.42) 0.42 0.43 (0.25) 1,785.01 (702.67)
Total comprehensive income {4.93) (1.22) 20.33 25.53 2.006.67 (864.71)
Group’s share of total
comprehensive incone (1.98) {0.49) 6.10 7.66 933.27 (423.71)
Reconciliation of investments in associates
Aditya Birla
P.T Indo Chemicals Essel Mining
Liberty {Thailand) and Industries
{Currency: In USD million) Textiles Limifed Limited Total
Cpening balance as at 1 April 2019 10.52 125.84 706.78 343.14
Addition - - 171.87 177.87
Dividend income (0.06) (0.78) (0.01) {0.85)
Share of profit/(loss) (0.65) 7.73 (79.40) (72.32)
Share of other comprehensive income 0.17 (0.08) (344.31) {344.22)
Translation adjustments {0.27) (3.11) 0.03 {3.25)
Closing balance as at 31 March 2020 971 125.60 460,56 600.27
Opening balance as at 1 April 2020 9.71 129.60 460.96 600.27
Addition - - 34.62 54.62
Dividend income - (0.34) - 0.84)
Share of profit/{loss) (1.81) 5.97 108.61 112.77
Share of other comprehensive income (0.17) C.13 874.66 §74.62
Translation adjustments 0.21 5.57 13.72 18.50
Closing balance as at 31 March 2021 7.94 140.43 1,512.57 1,660.94
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II

Other financial assets

Other financial assets — non-current

{Currency: In USD million)

Loan to subsidiary - (measured at amortised
cost) *+

Investment in unquoted equity shares at
FVTPL

Thai Acrylic Fiber Co., Ltd.

Investment in mutual funds

Convertible promissory note #

Investment in unquoted equity shares/CCPS*
at FYOCI

Abha Investments Pte. Lid, Singapore

Big Banyan Investments Pte. Ltd, Singapore

Blue Bucks Investments Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Calyx Investments Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Indogenious Holdings Pte. Lid., Singapore

Applause Entertainment Private Limited, India

Investment in quoted equity shares at
FVOCL/CCDA

Vodafone Idea Limited, India

Aditya Birla Capital Limited, India

Thai Rayon Public Company Limited, Thailand

Essel Mining and Industries Limited - CCD

Investment in quoted equity shares at FVTPL
Global Depository Receipts
Total non-current financial assets

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial stotements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The Group The Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
- ~ 84.55 ~
2.59 6.80 - -
- 32.76 - -
2.50 - - -
30.98 26.86 - -
30.92 26.82 - -
19.40 26.72 - -
31.45 27.35 - -
22.87 27.35 - -
46.21 46.21 46.21 46.21
391.25 123.56 - -
36.98 12.57 36.98 12,57
23.27 9.64 23.27 2.64
102.02 - - -
0.15 0.05 0.15 0.05
740.59 366.69 191.16 68.47

# During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group and CHASM Advanced Materials entered into a joint development
agreement to develop nanotube enhanced carbon bybrids of carbon nanotubes with existing substrates Leads to new,
scalable nanomaterials for a wide variety of end markets. The Group has invested an amount of USD 2.50 Million into

convertible promissory note.

Refer note 34 for details of classification and measurement basis of the above financial assets as per FRS 102 as at 31

March 2021 and 31 March 2020,

+ The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed term of repayment.

*  Refer to note 31 for details of loan to related party.

~  Denotes non-cumulative compulsory convertible preference shares.

An Denotes compulsory convertible debentures,

QOther financial assets — current
{Currency: In USD million)

Financial assets measured at fair value:
Investments in debt-oriented mutual fund units
Derivative financial assets - current

The Group The Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

- 41.56 - -
g.81 9.14 - -
8.81 50.70 - -
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Loan to subsidiaries*

Inter corporate deposits

Deposits with banks having maturity more
than 3 months

Investment in fixed income securities

* Refer to note 31 for details of loan ta subsidiary.

Investment in subsidiaries
{Currency; In USD million)

At 1 April 2019, at cost
Addition

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Yad.

At 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020, and 31 March 2021, at cost

Refer to note 40 for details of subsidiaries.

Other assets
{Currency: In USD million)

Non-current

Prepaid expenses

Net defined benefit plan assets
QOther advances

Current

Balances with government authorities (net of provision

of USD 4.03 million (31 March 2020: Nil))
Interest receivables
Prepaid expenses

Advances to vendors (net of provision for doubtful
advances of USD 1.17 million (31 March 2020: USD

1.20 million))
Net defined benefit plan assets
Other advances

Inventories
(Currency: In USD million)

Raw materials

Finished goods

Stores, spares and packing material
Trading stock

Total

and its subsidiaries
Financial statemenis
Year ended 31 March 2021
- - 931.32 880.33
25673 311.35 - -
2.04 101.91 - —
- 20.51 — —
258.77 43377 931.32  880.33
267.58 48447 931.32  8B0.33
The Company
0.99
501.53
502.52
The Group
2021 2020
0.51 0.57
0.76 -
11.15 14.49
12,42 15.06
22.65 31.70
2.87 -
6.24 11.36
19.31 12.09
0.36 -
1.75 3.17
53.18 58.32
The Group
2021 2020
123.37 62.49
75.08 74.63
38.58 38.19
238.75 188.10
475,78 363.41
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte, Lid.
and iy subsidigries

Financial statenents

Year ended 31 March 2021

The write-down of inventories to net realizable value as at 31 March 2021 amounted to USD 2.21
million (USD 14.40 million as of 31 March 2020). Reversal of write-down of inventories during
the year amounted to USD 12,19 million (USD 13.47 million write down of inventories during
the year ended 31 March 2020). The write-down of inventories and reversal is included in cost of
sales.

Inventories consumed during the year amounted to USD 4,930.40 million {31 March 2020: USD
5,742.82 million).

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Cash balance 0.16 0.36 C-— -
Bank balance 190.92 147.69 1.26 0.87
Investment and deposits with original
maturity of less than three months 180.33 134.34 - -
Total 371.41 282.39 1.26 0.87
Assets held for sale

The Group

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Property, plant and equipment held for sale* 16.11 12.70

* During the current year, USD 4.31 million (PY USD 0.83 million) of plot of land has been
identified as asset held for sale in Egypt. Last year, the Group also had decided to sell certain
building premises located jn Singapore which are classified as assets held for sale amounting
to USD 10.97 million. The Group is in process of negotiations with potential buyers for selling
the assets held for sale. During the previous year, the Group has decided to discontinue the
construction of its Cogeneration plant in Canada. As a result of this decision, the Group
reclassified USD 0.90 million of construction in progress (CIP) to asset available for sale.
Dwring the current vear, the Group has written off CIP in profit and loss.

Borrowings
Note The Group The Company

(Currency: In USD miilion) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Non-current
Secured bank loan {(a) 1,68440 1,676.92 - -
Vessel loans (secured) (b - 2.23 - -
Loan taken from subsidiary (non-interest

bearing) )] - - - 7.36
Loan taken from subsidiary (interest

bearing) 3 433,28 372.72

1,684.40  1,679.15 433.28 380.08
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Surya Kiran Investmenis Fle. Lid,

antd its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Current
Current portion of secured long-term
borrowings including revolver balance (a) 115.65 06.05 - -
Short term borrowings
Revolver facility loans (a) - 93.75 - -
Trust receipt loan (secured) (c) 55.00 165.69 - -
Short term loan for investments (secured} (d) - 47.60 - -
Bills discounted (secured) {e) - 438.12 - -
Other short term borrowings 49 168.27 22579 - -
Loan taken from shareholders (non-
interest bearing) ® 530.41 53341 275.41 278.41
Loan taken from sharecholders (interest
bearing) {h) 204.00 129.20 204.00 129.20
1,073.33  1,311.61 479.41 407.61
Total 2,757.73  2,990.76 912.69 787.69
Note (a)

(i} The secured bank loan includes three tranches of the senior credit facility having different
maturity tenures ranging from 3 - 7 years, and interest linked to USD LIBOR plus a margin
ranging from 1.65% to 2.27%.

The loan is secured by pledge of shares held by the Company in various subsidiaries excluding
Birla Carbon Egypt S.A E. The facility is also guaranteed by some of the other subsidiaries in the
Group and current assets of some subsidiaries have also been pledged.

The Greup is not required to meet the quarterly covenant thresholds until the quarter ending
September 30, 2021 due to Covid - 19.

(ii) Birla Carbon China (Jining) Co. Ltd. a subsidiary in the group borrowed a total of USD 80.00
million from the International Finance Corporation (IFC) loan facility related to the construction
of the plant. The balance of the loan at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, net of transaction cost,
was USD 59.31 million and USD 59.19 million, respectively. The facility is priced at LIBOR +
3.40% and matures in December 2027 with annual payment of USD 10 million, In view of the
Covid - 19, the loan maturity has been extended from December 2025 to December 2027 with no
repayments required to be done in 2020 and 2021. The Loan is secured against land, building,
machinery and equipment of Birla Carbon China (Jining} Co. Ltd.

(iif) Birla Carbon India Private Limited, the Indian subsidiary availed term loan of USD 21.77
million at Repo rate + 1%. The facility is secured by first charge on plant and machinery of
Gummidipoondi plant and matures in three years by repayment in equal quarterly instalments.

(iv) Surya Abha Investments Pte. Ltd. a step down subsidiary in the Group borrowed a total of
USD 250.00 million secured by charge on book debts and floating charge on the undertaking or
property of the Company excluding certain assets. The Company and SKI Investments Pte. Ltd.
{step down subsidiary) agreed to act as gnarantors for the loan. The balance of the loan at 31
March 2021 was USD 212.50 million (2020: USD 237.50 million). The bank loan bears interest
at rates ranging from 2.37% to 3.96% per annum. The bank loan is repayable in instalments falling
due every six months over a period of 3 years with final maturity in April 2022,
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Surya Kiran Invesiments Pte, Ltd,
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

(v) Elaine Investments Pte. Ltd and Oriana Investments Pte. Ltd., subsidiaries in the Group,
entered into a USD 60.00 million term loan facility agreement with a bank for general corporate
purposes including repayment of inter-company loans. The term loan is secured by a floating
charge on the undertakings and the properties of the subsidiaries excluding certain assets/shares,
The term loan bears interest rate ranging from 3.88% to 4.38% per annum which is repayable
every 3 months. The principal amount of USD 60.00 million is to be repaid in full on 28 June
2022.

(vi) Surya Abha Investments Pte. Ltd. a step down subsidiary in the Group borrowed USD 85
million secured by a charge on the book debts of the Company and a floating charge on the
undertaking or property of the Company excluding certain assets. The Company and SKI
Investments Pte. Ltd. (step down subsidiary) agreed to act as guarantors for the loan. The balance
of the loan at 31 March 2021 was USD 85 million. The bank loan bears interest at approximately
2.78%. The bank loan is repayable in instalments falling due every six months over a period of 3
years with final maturity in Jannary 2024,

Note (b)
The vessels mortgage loan is secured by the following:

» First legal mortgage over the vessels, assignment of charter party contract and vessels earnings,
assignment of vessels insurance, charge on operational account, memorandum of deposits and
guarantee by the relevant subsidiary company.

» The vessels mortgage loan commenced from 24 November 2015 and bears interest at LIBOR
+1.40% per annum.

* The loan is repayable in quarterly instalmenis and the last instalment is due in March 2022.

Note (c)

Trust receipt loan bear interest at rates ranging from 0.5% to 1.5% per annum above the Bank's
effective cost of funds prevailing LIBOR or SIBOR. The tenure of such loans is short term in
nature ranging from 1 day to 43 days. These are secured against trade receivables.

Note (d)

The short-term loan for investments bears interest at rates ranging from 1% to 2% per annum
above banks effective cost of funds, SIBOR or LIBOR. This is secured against investment
securities.

Note (e)
Bills discounted bear interest at rates ranging from 0.20% to 2.00% per annum above the Bank's
effective cost of funds at prevailing LIBOR or SIBOR and are secured.

Note (f)

Other short term borrowings are unsecured and consist of short term loan facilities. These short
term facilities are primarily drawn upon in the respective local currencies to fund working capital
and these facilities are generally uncommitted in nature.
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and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Note (g)
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

Note (h)
The amount is unsecured, bears interest ranging 1% to 3% per annum and repayable on demand.

Note (i)
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and non-current in nature.

Note (j)

The Company entered into loan agreement on 2 April 2018 with SKI Investments Pte. Ltd., step
down subsidiary for a term loan canying fized interest rate of 4.40% per annum compounded
quarterly. Principal interest is repayable on expiry of 30 months from the date of disbursement
i.e. during October 2020. The agreement was revised on 31% March 2020 and the revised date of
maturity of loan was fixed as 6 October 2025 with other terms remaining the same,

On 29 September 2020 the Company entered into another loan agreement with SKI Investments
Pte. Ltd. for USD 60 million at an interest rate of 4.40% per annum compounded quarterly with
date of maturity being 6 October 2025.

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

Long-term Short-term Lease

{Currency: In USD million) borrowings borrowings liabilities Total
Balance at 1 April 2019 979.43 304.22 4.36 1,288.01
Impact on initial application

of FRS 116 - - 3.39 3.39
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2019 979.43 304.22 7.75 1,291.40

Changes from financing cash flows
Long term loans taken during the

current year 1,985.34 - - 1,985.34
Repayment of long term borrowings

(including current maturities) (1,212.73) (115.00 - (1,327.73)
Additional short term borrowings

availed net off repayments - 818.81 - g18.81
Repayment of lease obligations -

principal portion - - (6.01) (6.01)
Interest paid on borrowings (56.82) (44.45) - (101.27)
Bank fees paid on origination of new

loans (18.66) {4.25) - (22.91)
Interest paid on lease liabilities - - (1.05) (1.05)
Other changes
Borrowings taken over pursuant to

business combination in April 2019 8.30 229.42 - 237.72
Lease liabilities taken over pursuant to

business combination in April 2019 - - 2.10 2.10
New leases - - 10.68 10.68
Interest expense on lease liabilities - - 1.05 1.05
Interest expense on borrowings 52.44 44.45 - 96.89
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Amortisation of deferred loan charges

at effective interest method 3.37 4,01 - 7.38
Reclassification of from non-current to

current {66.05) 66.05 - -
Impact of accrued interest classified

under trade and other payables 4.53 - - 4.53
Foreign currency revaluation - 8.35 0.73 3.08
Balance at 31 March 2020 1,679.15 1,311.61 15.25 3,006.01

Long-term Short-term Lease

(Currency: In USD million) borrowings borrowings liabilities Total
Balance at 1 April 2020 1,679.15 1,311.61 15.25 3,006.01
Changes from financing cash flows
Long term loans taken during the

current year 106.77 580.33 - 687.10
Short term loans taken during the

current year (Net) - 146.80 - 146.80
Repayment of long term borrowings

(including current maturities) - (1,078.63) - (1,078.63)
Repayment of lease obligations -

principal portion - - (6.03) (6.03)
Interest paid on borrowings (59.67) (27.57) - (87.24)
Interest paid on lease liabilities - - {1.41) (1.41)
Deferred loan fees paid - (0.29) - (0.2
Other changes
New leases - - 10.91 10.91
Interest expense on lease liabilities - - 1.41 1.41
Interest expense on horrowings 59.67 27.57 - 87.24
Amortisation of deferred loan charges

at effective interest method 4.12 0.53 - 4.65
Reclassification of from non-current to

current (105.49) 105.49 - -
Decensolidation of a subsidiary - (0.23) - (0.23)
Impact of accrued interest classified

under trade and other payables (0.15) - - 0.15)
Foreign currency revaluation - 7.72 0.17 7.89
Balance at 31 March 2021 1,684.40 1,073.33 20.30 2,778.03
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Trade and other payables
{Currency: In USD million)

Non-Current

Derivative financial instrument

Financial liability under option arrangement
{measured at FVTQCI (equity)}

Current

Trade payables

Accrued interest payable

Capital creditors

Derivative financial instruments

Other payables*

Total current trade and other payables

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd.

and ifs subsidigries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The Group The Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

15.62 3344 - -
4.55 - - -
20.17 33.44 - -
719.84 476.92 — -
6.78 5.92 1.61 0.69
11.76 11.75 - —
12.68 12.27 - -
67.37 49,29 0.42 0.04
R18.43 556.15 2.03 0.73

* Other payables include acceptances amounting to USD 5,36 million (31 March 2020: USD 20.28

million}.

Details of trade payables by related parties is included in note 31.

Provisions

(Currency: In USD million)

Non-current
Environmenial accruals
Asset retirement obligation

Current
Environmental accruals
Claims

Total

Refer to note 33 for movement in the provisions.

Employee benefit obligations

(Currency: In USD million)

Non-current

Retirement benefit obligations — non-current
Compensated absences

Total non-current provisions

Current

Retirement benefit obligations — current
Compensated absences

Total current provisions

The Group
2021 2020
0.49 0.35
0.87 0.80
1.36 1.15
2.03 0.84
4.57 3.53
6.60 4.37
7.96 5.52
The Group
2021 2020
24.75 35.80
2.72 4.57
27.47 40.37
5.00 5.19
5.66 3.52
10.66 8.71

Refer to note 30 for disclosure on employee benefits,

F541



16

17

Other Liabilities

(Currency: In USD million)

Non-current
Other liabilities

Current

Statutory payables

Dividend payable to non-controlling interests
Employee payables

Contract liabilities

Other liabilities

Leases liabilities

Surya Kiran Investmenis Ple. 1L.td,

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
The Group
2021 2020
942 11.30
15.68 11.33
0.62 0.59
19.30 14.63
29.46 21.11
0.02 0.01
65.08 47.67

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of lease liabilities at the reporting date,

The amounts are gross and undiscounted and include estimated interest payments.

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities - Contractual undiscounted cash flow:

The Group
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Less than one year 9.03 441
One to five years 10.30 1027
More than five years 5.49 5.29
Total undiscounted lease liabilities 24.82 19.97
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial positien
{(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Current 7.87 3.68
Non-Current 12.43 11.57
20.30 15.25

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Leases under FRS 116
Interest on lease liabilities 1.41 1.05
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 6.47 5.56
Income from subleasing right -of- use assets presented

in other income 0.31 6.24
Expenses relating to short-term leases 2.89 5.65
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets,

excluding short-term leases of low-value assets 0.29 0.58
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Surya KGran Investments Ple. Lid.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statenents
Year ended 31 March 2021
Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Total cash ontflow for leases 9,22 13.29

The Group's leases mainly relate to office buildings, equipment, storage tanks and vehicles.

Preference shares

The Group
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Preference shares - non current
Redeemable cumulative non-convertible preference shares A
{Issued by a subsidiary in financial year ended 2021) 5.65 —
The Group and The
Company
2021 2020
Preference shares - non current
Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares A
(Issued in financial year ended 2007) 15.00 15.00
Redeemable non-cummilative non-convertible Preference Shares C
(Issued in financial year ended 2011) - 29.00
Redeemable cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares D
(Issued in financial year ended 2018) 130.00 130.00
Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares B
(Issued in financial year ended 2018) 250.00 250.00
Redeemable cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares F
(Issued in financial year ended 2019) 185.00 185.00
Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares G
(Issued in financial year ended 2019} 100.00 100.00
Redeemable cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares H
(Issued in financial year ended 2020) 20.00 20.00
T700.00 72%.00
705.65 729.00
The Group and The
Company
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Preference shares - current
Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible Preference Shares C
(Issued in financial year ended 2011) 29.00 —
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Surva Kivan Investments Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Redeemable cumulative non-convertible preference shares “A* (“RCPS”s)

The RCPSs represent 5,650,000 Preference Shares “A” issued by a subsidiary during the financial
year ended 31 March 2021.

The RCPSs are redeemable after 5 years from the date of allotment and are not convertible to
ordinary shares in the capital of the subsidiary.

The RCPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference
shares in the capital of the subsidiary, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights.
Dividends on the RCPSs are payable at 3% of its face value per annum.

Redeemable non-cumulative convertible preference shares “A” (“RCPS™'s)

The RCPSs represent 15,000,000 Preference Shares “A” issued by the Company during the
financial year ended 31 December 2007.

The RCPSs are redeecmable after 120 months from its issue date, and are convertible to ordinary
shares in the capital of the Company at the ratio of 300 RCPSs to 1 ordinary share, at the option
of the holder.

The RCPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference
shares in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights.
Dividends on the RCPSs are payable at 3% of its face value per annum.

On 5 April 2017, the Company extended the maturity date of Preference Shares A by 60 months
to 11 April 2022,

On 20 November 2019, the terms of the preference shares were changed from convertible to non-
convertible and maturity date extended to 20™ November 2029.

Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible preference shares *C” (“RPS¥s)

The RPSs represent 29,000,000 Preference Shares “C” issued by the Company during the
financial year ended 31 December 2011 for USD29,000,000.

The RPSs are redeemable after 60 months from its issue date at the option of the holder, and are
not convertible to ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference
shares in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and shall have the same rights
as the holders of ordinary shares at meetings of the Company and carry 1 voting right for every
RPS. Dividends on the RPS are payable at 3% of its face value per annum.

On 27 June 2016, the Company extended the maturity date of Preference Shares C by 60 months
to 30 June 2021.

Redeemable cumulative non-convertible preference shares “D” (“RPS”s)

The RPSs represent 130,000,000 Preference Shares “D” issued by the Company during the
financial year ended 31 March 2018 for USD130,000,000,
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The RPSs ate redeemable on 8 March 2028 at the option of the holder, and are not convertible to
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference shares
in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights. Dividends on the
RPS are payable at 3.5% of its face value per annum.

Redeemable non-cumulative non-convertible preference shares “E” (“RPS”s)

The RPSs represent 250,000,000 Preference Shares “E” issued by the Company during the financial
year ended 31 March 2018 for USD250,000,000.

The RPSs are redeemable on 8 March 2028 at the option of the holder, and are not convertible to
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference shares
in the capital of the Company, in the event of liguidation, and carry no voting rights. Dividends on the
RPS are payable at 3.75% of its face value per annum.

Redesmable cumulative non-convertible preference shares “F” (“RPS”s)

On 29 June 2018, the Company issved 185,000,000 Preference Shares “F for USD185,000,000.

The RPSs are redeemable on 29 June 2028 at the option of the holder, and are not convertible to
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference shares
in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights. Dividends on the
RPS are payable at 3.5% of its face value per annum.

Redeemsable non-cumulative non-convertible preference shares “G” (“RPS"s)

On 16 August 2018, the Company issued 100,000,000 Preference Shares “G” for
USD100,000,000.

The RPSs would be perpetual in nature and redeemable at the option of the issuer in accordance
with the applicable provisions of the law at par value subject to review after every 10 years from
the date of allotment.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference

shares in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights.
Dividends on the RPS are payable at 3.75% of its face value per annum.

Redeemable cumulative non-convertible preference ghares “H” (“RP'S”s)
On 28 August 2019, the Company issued 20,000,000 Prefexence Shares “H” for USD20,000,000,

The RPSs are redeemable after 10 years from the date of allotment, and are not convertible to
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The RPSs rank in priority over ordinary shares, and rank equally with other class of preference

shares in the capital of the Company, in the event of liquidation, and carry no voting rights.
Dividends on the RPS are payable at 3.50% of its face value per annum.
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and its subsidiaries

Financial statemnents

Year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue

The Group generates revenue primarily from the sale of carbon black for the rubber and specialty
markets and the sale of electricity/steam and tail gases for the generation of electricity.

In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by major product
lines and timing of revenue recognition. The table also includes other revenue.

The Group

Revenue from operations
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Product lines:
Carbon black rubber 1,102.46 1,440.62
Carbon black specialty 241.04 253.76
Electricity sales 60.03 85.86
Bulk commodity trading 4,614.96 5,057.40
Clearing and handling income 36.59 37.30

6,055.08 6,874.94
Other operating revenue 14.25 11,75
Total revenue 6,069.33 6,886.69

Sale of traded bulk commadities includes the below categories of products:

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020

Qil and Petrochemicals 1,175.07 2,088.00
Metals and Minerals 1,914.16 1,894.00
Others 1,525.73 1,07540
Total 4,614.96 5,057.40

Reconciliation of revenue as per contracts with customers to revenue as per the financial
statements:

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Revenue as per contract with customers 6,120.17 6,954.05
Less: Trade discounts and rebates (50.84) {67.36)
Revenue as per financial statements 6,069.33 6,886.69
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020

Timing of revenue recognition
Products transferred at a point in time 6,069.33 6,886.69
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,
and its subsidiaries
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Year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue from contracts with customers is based on the consideration specified in the contract or
purchase order. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of goods to a customer
and collection is probable.

Product line

Nature and timing of satisfying
performance obligations, including
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition under
FRS 115

Carbon black rubber
and specialty

Electricity sales

Sale of traded bulk
commodities

Clearing and
handling income

Custemer obtains conirol of goods when
the geods are delivered to the customer's
premise or other agreed upon delivery
point where the customer takes control of
the goods. The credit period offered to
customers generally ranged from 30 days
to 90 days. Some contracts provide rebates.
The Group provides the systematic accrual
for these contracts on a monthly basis,
based on the contractually agreed terms
and the past experience of the Company.
The Group generally does not have returns
related to carbon black and is only obliged
to provide a replacement if the carbon
black properties do not meet agreed
qualifications. Sale returns are accounted
as and when customers' inform their
definitive intend to return the goods.

Customers obain  contral of the
electricity/tail gases at the agreed point of

supply.

Custorner obtains conirol of goods when
the goods are delivered to the customer's
premise or cther agreed upon delivery
point where the customer takes control of
the goods. The credit period offered to
customers generally 7 to 90 days.

Customer recognises the benefits of the
services received or other agreed upon
service milestones. The eredit period
offered to customers generally 7 to 90 days.

Revenue is recognized when
the goods are delivered at the
agreed point of delivery.

Revenue from electricity sales
is recognised at the time of
supply of electricity/ tail gases,
at the contractually agreed
rates.

Revenue is recognised when
the goods are delivered at the
agreed point of delivery.

Revenue is recognised when
the  related  performance
obligation has been satisfied.
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Other income
(Currency: In USD million)

Fair valuation loss on equity investment measured at FVTPL
Dividend income

Export incentives

Others

Total

Cost of sales
(Currency: In USD million)

Raw material and packing material consumed

Purchase of traded goods

Changes in inventories of finished/traded goods (including
inventories received pursuant to business combination)

Salaries, wages and bonus

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Repair and maintenance

Consumption of stores and spares

Transportation and handling charges in relation to bulk
commodities traded

Professional and miscellaneous services

Others

Total

Selling, general and administrative expenses
(Currency: In USD million)

Transportation and handling charges
Salaries, wages and bonus
Restructuring expenses

QOthers

Tetal

Research and development expenses

(Currency: In USD million)

Salaries, wages and bonus
Others

Total

Snurya Kiran Investments Pte. Lid,

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
The Group
2021 2020
(4.61) -
16.83 -
1.93 2.88
3.38 049
17.53 12.37
The Group
2021 2020
700.96 1,053.82
4,273,935 4.660.39
(33.96) 63.17
08.23 110.40
95.50 98.16
31.86 34,59
22.51 2381
40421 313.40
27.09 28.63
01.61 96.37
5,700.96 6,482.74
The Group
2021 2020
53.18 50.72
57.21 51.00
8.58 1.09
58.63 71.69
177.60 174.50
The Group
2021 2020
10.70 10.71
3,25 479
13.95 15.50
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Impairment loss of financial assets
{Currency: In USD million)

Fair value (gain)/loss on interest rate swaps
Impairment loss on trade receivables

Fair value (gain)/loss on Global Depository Receipts
Total

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Currency: In USD million}
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Impairment of other non-financial asset receivables
Total

Finance costs (net)

(Currency: In USD million)

Finance income
Interest income
Foreign exchange gain, net

Finance expenses

Interest expense excluding lease liability
Interest related to lease liability

Foreign exchange loss, net

Finance cost (net), recognised in profit or loss

Surya Kiran Investnents Ple. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statemerits
Year ended 3 March 2021
The Group
2021 2020
(2.45) 777
18.05 5.13
O.10) 0.04
15.50 12.94
The Group
2021 2020
1.00 5.69
3.98 -
4.98 5.69
The Group
2021 2020
36.05 38.09
- 2.44
36.05 40.53
(67.64) (141.97
(1l.41) (1.05)
(19,97 —
(89.02) (143.02)
(52.97 (102.4%)
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Lid.

and tfs subsidiaries
Finaucial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Contingent liabilities
The Group
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Claims against the Group not acknowledged as debts 35.01 38.46

The above claims represent ongoing tax litigations, in respect of the deductibility of goodwill
amortisation, property taxes and utilisation of tax credit related to freight and maintenance at the
Group’s South America facilities and in respect of certain ongoing indirect tax litigations in India,

Guarantors to USD 250 million borrowing facility agreement

The Company and SKI Investments Pte. Ltd. (step down subsidiary) agreed to act as gnarantors
for a secured bank borrowing by Surya Abha Investments Pte. Ltd. (step down subsidiary), an
entity incorporated in Singapore, for USD 250 million. The agreement was signed on 17 April
2019.

Guarantors to USD 85 million borrowing facility agreement

The Company and SKI Investments Pte. Lid. (step down subsidiary) agreed to act as guarantors
for a secured bank borrowing by a related party, Surya Abha Investments Pte. Ltd., an entity
incorporated in Singapore, of USD 85 million. The agreement was signed on 5™ January 2021,

Guarantors to USD 125 million borrowing facility agreement

SKI Investments Pte. Ltd and Surya Abha Investments Pte. Ltd. agreed to act as guarantors for a
secured bank borrowing by, Big Banyan Investments Pte. Ltd., and Blue Bucks Investments Pte.
Ltd. entities incorporated in Singapore, of USD 125 million. The agreement was signed on 26™
March 2021.

Other Contingencies-Environmental Matters

The Group is subject to extensive federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations relating
to safety, health, and environmental matters. The impact of future changes in such laws and
regulations on the Group cannot be predicted.

It is often difficult to estimate the future impact of environmental matters, including potential
liabilities. The Group has established accruals to cover envircnmental liabilities where they are
probable and reasonably estimable. Although the Group believes that these accruals are adequate
to cover known environmental liabilities, there can be no assurance that the actual amount of
environmental liabilities will not exceed the amount of accruals for such matters or will not have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or
cash flows.
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Surya Kivan Invesiments Ple. Ltd.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Commitments
The Group
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Commitments to purchase/procure:
Procurement of materials 236.19 65.51
Capital commitments 48.48 99.29
284.67 164.80
Commitments to sell:
Energy and by-products 2.65 6.92

A subsidiary in the Group had received inquiries in the earlier years from the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA) about its compliance with EPA's New Source Review regulations
pursuant to a section 114 of the Clean Air Act in the United States of America, These regulations
generally cover equipment and related environmental permitting, maintenance, and treatment of
substances used in or emitted by the Group’s U.S, production plants. The entity had filed its
response and denied liability. In December 2017, the Entity entered into a consent decree with
the EPA and the separate states of Louisiana and Kansas setting all outstanding matters (Consent
Decree). The EPA had posted the Consent Decree for public comments. The Consent Decree
was finalized on 1 June 2018.

The entity expects over the next two years to complete installation of certain additional pollution
abatement equipment at each of its facilities at an estimated total expenditure of USD 156,50
million. The aferesaid expenditure and costs to the extent of USD 104.90 million approximately,
are covered by an indemnity from previous owners for potential financial liabilities in this matter.

Non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with NCI that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and NCI to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary.
Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to NCI and any consideration paid or
received is recognised within equity.

The changes in equity attributable to the owners of the group from transactions with NCI is as
follow:

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Consideration paid to NCI 2,78 57.81
Less: Equity of NCI acquired including share capital {4.47) (43.49)
A decreasef(increase) in equity attributable o owners of the Group {1.69) 14.32
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Surya Kiran Investinents Pte. Ltd
and its subsidiaries

Financial statemenis

Year ended 31 March 2021

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that hag material NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.

{Currency: In USD million)

NCI percentage

Non-current assets **

Current assets

Nan-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Net assets #*

Net assets attributable to NCI (before adjustments)
Less: Financial Liability under Option arrangement ##

Less; Deconsolidation of Jining Chenyang CCIN Chemical Co., Ltd.

Net assets atiributable to NCI

Revenue

Net profit

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Profit allocated to NCI

OCI allocated to NCI

Dividend paid to NCI

# MNClincludes 24.98% held by an entity which is a related party.

Birla Carbon Egvpt S.A.E.

(formerly known as Alexandria

Carbon Black Company)**

Birla Carbon Thailand Public

Co. Ltd (formerly known as
Thai Carbon Black Pablic
Co. Limited) #**

Others

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
54.31% 54.31% 80.33% B1.04% 47.50%1073.22%  47.50% to 73.22%
366.47 352.97 493.96 468.04 400.36 64746
44.42 47.65 226.62 193.79 171162 1,764.21
(88.66) (88.71) (3.23) (3.11) (1,394.91) (1,493.81)
(45.20) (52.58) (51.64) (42.87) (1,102.77) (1,241.00)
277.03 25933 665.71 615.85 (385.70) (323.14)
150.45 140.84 534.75 499.08 (180.10) (214.71)
_ _ - B (3.13) -
- - - - (4.85) -
15045 140.84 534.75 495,08 (188.08) C14.71)
101.05 125.41 182.94 27226 5,785.34 6.485.02
12.02 26.49 31.30 76.33 82.85 (5.40)
6.03 (12.13) 30.36 (28.85) 27.25 (57.51)
18.05 1436 61.66 4748 110.10 (62.91)
6.53 14.39 25.14 61.86 4040 (2.30)
327 (6.59) 24.39 (23.38) 13.94 (28.33)
- — (7.27) (7.30) (19.57) (4.13)

#% TIncludes the proportionate share of equity of Indigold Carbon (Mauritivs) Limited. (“ICML") which is an associate of Birla Carbon Egypt 8.A.E. ("BCE") and Birla Carbon Thailand Public

Co. Ltd (“BCT™). BCE and BCT each hold a 20.59% stake in ICML.

## Put option held by a Nen-controlling shareholder in a subsidiary entity, entitles the minority sharcholder to sell its stake 1o the Group for a value that would be determined as per the
contractually stipulated terms of the option agreement. The Group has accounted for the put option liability at its fair value estimated at USD 4.55 million as at 31 March 2021. The
comesponding NCI balance in books of USD 3.13 million has been derecognised and the excess of fair value over the carrying value of NClamounting to USD 1.42 million has been recorded

under retained eamings.
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Surya Kiran Investments Ple. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Yeuar ended 31 March 2021

Employee benefits
Defined coniribution plans

The Group administers a number of defined contribution plans, the assets of which are held in
external funds. The Group makes contributions, determined as a specified percentage of employee
salaries, in respect of qualifying employees towards defined contribution benefits. The Group has
no obligations other than to make the specified contributions. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they accrue. The Company does not have employees hence no disclosure for the
same.

The Group has recognised an expense for contribution to defined contribution plans amounting
to USD 1.73 million for the year ending 31 March 2021 (2020: USD 1.54 million) under cost of
sales and selling, general and administrative expenses.

Defined benefit plan
The Group contributes to the following post-employment defined benefit plans.
Defined benefit pension plans

The Group sponsors defined benefit pension plans in the United States, Germany, Brazil and
Canada. Benefits for these plans are based on years of service and depending on the plan, either
final average salary or a fixed amount for each year of service. Qualifying participants generally
vest in their benefits after a certain length of service,

Posiretirement healthcare and life insurance benefit plans

The Group’s North and South America employees participate in postretirement medical and life
insurance benefit plans. These plans provide medical insurance benefits for many employees
retiring from active service.

Life insurance benefits for retirees are also available pursnant to the terms of certain collective
bargaining agreements.

Other defined benefit plans

In Thailand, the Group operates defined benefit plans based on the requirement of Thai Labor
Protection Act B.E. 2541 (1998) to provide retirement benefits to employees based on pensionable
remuneration and length of service.

The Group provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972,
The gratuity plan entitles an employee, who has rendered at least five years of continuous service,
to receive one-half month's salary for each year of completed service at the time of retirement.

The defined benefit plans expose the Group to actnarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency
risk, interest rate risk and market {investment) risk.

The majority of benefit payments are from trustee-administered funds; however, there are also
some unfunded plans where the Group meets the benefit payment obligation as it falls due. Plan
assets held in trusts are governed by local regulations and practice in each country, as is the nature
of the relationship between the Group and the trustees (or equivalent) and their composition.
Responsibility for governance of the plans — including investment decisions and contributions
schedules — lies jointly with the Group and the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees must be
composed of representatives of the Group and plan participants in accordance with the plan’s
regulations.
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries
Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The details of movement in net defined benefit obligations for defined benefit plans and related

actuarial assumptions are as below:

Postretirement healthcare and life insurance benefit plans

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for the

net defined benefit (asset)/liability and its components,

Movements in present value of obligation

(Currency: In USD million)

Opening balance
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost
Curtailment

Interest cost

Included in OCI

Remeasurement loss/(gain):
Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from:

- Experience adjustments

Effect of movements in exchange rates

Other

Benefits patd
Closing balance

Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date,

North America
South America

Sensitivity analysis

6.61%

The Group
2021 2020
3.78 3.27
0.05 0.05
(0.12) -
0.09 0.13
0.02 0.18
{0.43) 0.53
- {0.05)
{0.43) 0.48
©.1D {0.15)
3.26 3.78
Discount rate
2021 2020

2.75% to 3.06% 2.50% 10 3.69%

6.19%

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding
cther assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit abligation by the amounts shown

below.

{(Currency: In USD million)

Discount rate (1% movement)

Increase

0.12)

Decrease

0.83
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and iis subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Employee pension plan

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances ta the closing balances for
the net defined benefit (asset)/liability and its components:

Movements in present value of obligation and plan assets

The Group
Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Opening balance 76.44 106.20 46.69 84.33
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost 0.89 0.97 - -
Gain on settlement (0.67) - - -
Interest cost 1,53 3.30 0.80 2.46
135 427 0.80 2.46
Included in OCI
Remeasurement loss/(gain):
Actuarial (gain)/loss arising from:
- Demographic assamptions (C.04) (©.19) - -
- Financial assumptions (4.81) 15.47 - -
- Experience adjustments (0.19) ©.73) - —
Return on plan assets excluding
interest income - - 5.57 4.67
Effect of movements in exchange
rates 2.09 (2.60) 1.85 (1.69)
(2.95) 11.95 7.42 2.98
Other
Liabilities extinguished on
settlement (15.64) (41.40) (15.64) (42.43)
Contributions to plan assets - - 2.70 3.19
Benefits paid (4.63) (4.58) (4.49) (3.84)
(20.27) {45.98) (17.43) (43.08)
Closing balance 54.97 76.44 37.48 46.69
Represented by
Net defined benefit asset 0.76 -
Net defined benefit liability 18.25 20.75
17.49 29.75
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Plan assets

Surva Kiran Invesiments Pte. Lid.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The fair value of plan assets at the reporting date for the defined benefit plans for each category

are as follows:

{Currency: in USD million}

US Equities

US Mutual Funds

US Debt Securities

US Cash

Canada Mutual Funds
Germany Insurance Contracts

The Group
2021 2020

10.16 13.65
- 1.45
6.27 13.07
0.51 0.88
14.73 11.89
5.81 5.75
37.48 46,69

The Group expects to contribute approximately USD 1.24 million to its defined benefit plans

during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Actuarial assumpftions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date.

North America
South America
Europe

North America
South America
Europe

Sensitivity analysis

Discount rate
2021 2020
3.00% to 3.06%  2.50% to 3.69%
7.54% 6.70%
0.20% t0 0.75% 0.25% to 1.70%
Salary escalation rate
2021 2020
3.00% 3.00%
5.32% 5.67%
0.70% t0 2.25% 0% t0 3.2%

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the

amounts shown below.

2021 2020
{Currency: In USD million) Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate (1% movement) (5.62) 6.89 (10.35) 12.74
Future salary growth
(1% movement) 0.15 (0.15) 0.55 {0.52)
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and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Gratuity and severance plans

The following table shows a recenciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for
the net defined benefit (asset)/liability and its components:

Movements in present value of obligation and plan assets

The Group
- Defined benefit obligation Fair value of plan assets
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Opening balance 12.25 11.62 4,79 4.50
Included in profit or loss
Current service cost 1.40 1.12 - -
Interest cost (.43 (.33 0.32 0.32
1.83 1.45 0.32 0.32
Included in OCI
Remeasurament loss/(gain).
Actuarial {(gain)/loss arising from:
- Demographic assumptions - - - -
- Financial assumptions 0.46 0.34 - 0.04)
- Experience adjustments (0.26) 0.14 - -
Return on plan assets excluding
interest income - - 0.07 0.15
Currency translation adjustment 0.37 (0.41) 0.12 {0.36)
0.57 0.07 0.19 {0.25)
Other
Liabilities extinguished on
settlements - 0.01 0.01 -
Contributions to plan assets {0.17) - - 0.22
Benefits paid (1.30) (0.90) {0.01) —
(147 (0.89) - 0.22
Closing balance 13.18 12.25 5.30 4.79
Represented by funded plans in
deficit:
Net defined benefit asset 0.36 -
Net defined benefit liability 8.24 7.46
7.88 7.46
Plan assets

The fair value of plan assets at the statement of financial position date for the defined benefit
plans for each category are as follows:

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020

Others : 5.30 4.79

The Group expects to contribute approximately USD 0.20 million to its gratuity and severance
plans during the year ended 31 March 2021.
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Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2621

Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as
weighted averages).

Discount rate Salary escalation rate

2021 2020 2021 2020
Thailand 2.96% 2.96% 9.00% 9.00%
India 6.80% 10 6.95% 6.65%10675% 8.00%tw 8.50% 6.75% to B.00%

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions,
holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the
amounts shown below.

2021 2020
{Currency: In USD million) Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
Discount rate (1% movement) (0.79) 0.78 (0.34) 0.54
Future salary growth
(1% movement) 0.83 (0.86) 0.59 (0.53) .

Amount recognised in the statement of financial position

2021 2020
Net Net plan Net Net plan

(Currency: In USD million) obligation assets obligation assets
Postretirement healthcare and life
insurance benefit plans 3.26 - 378 -
Employee pension plan 18.25 .76 29.75 -
Gratuity and severance plans 8.24 0.36 7.46 -

29.75 1.12 40.99 -
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Surva Kiran Investments Ple, Lid.
and iy subsidiaries

Financial stutements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Related party relationships, transactions and balances

The following are the details of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for

the relevant financial year:

Directly-held subsidiaries

Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd., Singapore (KIPL)
Surya Viniyog Pte. Ltd., Singapore
Elaine Investments Pte. Ltd., Singapore

Key management personnel

The Group

John A Loudermilk

Surendra Kumar Goyal

Jeffrey Hanson

Madugula Venkata Naga Saritha
Nandita Agarwal

Manish Kumar Tibrewal
Namrata Goyal

Kumar Mangalam Birla

Deepak Kumar Khandelwat

Other related parties and affiliates

The Company

Manish Kumar Tibrewal
Kumar Mangalam Birla
Deepak Kumar Khandelwal
Namrata Goyal

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the other related parties and

affiliates of the Group are;

Name of the party

Abha Investments Pte. Ltd.

Calyx Investments Pte. Ltd.

Indogenious Holdings Pte. Ltd.

Elve Bucks Investments Pte. Ltd.

Big Banyan Invesiments Pte. Lid.

PT. Indo Bharat Rayon (IBR) .

Swiss Singapore Overseas Enterprises Pte Ltd. (SSOE)
Aditya Birla Chemicals (Thailand) Ltd. (ABCT)
Alexandria Fiber Company Ltd (AFCO}

Thai Acrylic Fiber Co. Ltd.

P T Indo Liberty Textiles
Essel Mining and Industries Limited (EMIL)
Thai Rayen Public Co. Ltd.

Mrs. Ruchika Goyal (Spouse of Mr. Surendra Kumar Goyal)

Nature of relationship

Shareholder

Shareholder

Shareholder

Shareholder

Shareholder

Shareholder

Step down subsidiaty

Associate

Corumen director and BCT holds
more than 10 % of the share
capital.

Common director and BCT holds
more than 10 % of the share
capital.

Associate

Associate

Major shareholder in a subsidiary

company, ABCT

Close member of the family of

key management personnel
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Surya Kiran Invesiments Pte. Ltd.
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Yeur ended 31 March 2021

Transactions with related parties and affiliates and outstanding balances

Details of transactions during the year

The Group The Company

{Currency: In USD miilion) 2021 2020 2021 2020
SKI Investments Pte. Ltd.
Interest expense - - 18.25 21.37
Loan taken - - 60.00 179.35
Repayment of loan - - - 256.13
Interest paid - - 17.69 20.88
Subsidiaries (excluding SKI

Investments Pte. Ltd.)
Loan provided - - 194.61 589.97
Loan taken - - 89.82 460.19
Interest income - - 23.40 20.33
Dividend income - - 15.75 -
Investment in subsidiaries - - - 501.53
Shareholders
Repayment of loan (including interest

to IBR) 74.72 - 74.72 -
Interest expense 4.72 0.08 4,72 0.08
Loan taken 147.30 535.24 147.30 299.38

Equity accounted investees
Additional investment (EMIL) 54.62 177.88 - —
Additional investment (EMIL) - CCD 102.57 - - -

Other related parties and affiliates

Electricity and steam sales 10.51 10.96 - -
Dividend income 0.82 0.89 - -
Sales 0.15 415 - —
Royalty expenses 1.35 2.02 - -
Compensation to key management

personnel* 1.99 2.46 — —
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Surya Kiran Investinents Pte, Ltd,

and ifs subsidiaries
Financial statemenis
Year ended 31 March 2021
Outstanding balances
The Group The Company
{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020
SKI Investments Pte. Lid.
Loan payable (including
accrued interest) ** - - 433.28 372.72
Subsidiaries (excluding SKI
Investments Pte. Ltd.)
Loan payable - - - 7.36
Loan receivable *** - - 972.14  860.00
Interest receivable®* - - 43.73 20.33
Shareholders
Borrowings 734.41 658.41 47941  403.41

*

L2

dkF

Note: As the liabilities for defined benefit plans and compensated absences are provided
on actuarial basis for the respective companies as a whole, the amounts pertaining to key
management personnel are not included.

The Company entered into loan agreement on 2 April 2018 with its step down subsidiary,
SKI Investments Pte. Lid., Singapore, for a term loan carrying fixed interest rate of 4.40%
per annum compounded quarterly. Principal interest is repayable on expiry of 30 months
from the date of disbursement i.e. during October 2020. The agreement was revised on 315t
March 2020 and the revised date of maturity of loan was fixed as 6 October 2025 with other
terms remaining the same.

On 29 September 2020 the Company entered into another loan agreement with SKI
Investments Pte. Ltd. for USD 60 million at an interest rate of 4.40% per annum
compounded quarterly with date of maturity being 6 October 2025.

Amount due from subsidiaries are unsecured, bear interest at 2.55% - 3.00% per annum
and repayment terms are subject to subordination deed.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

All related party transactions entered during the year were in the ordinary course of business. The
outstanding balances with related parties are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees
have been given or received except those disclosed in Note 27.
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Income taxes

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

{Currency: In USD million)

Current tax expense
Current year tax
Changes in estimates related to prior years

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of ternporary differences
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses
Reduction in tax rate

Tax expense for the year

Surya Kiran Investments Pte. Ltd,

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income - Group

2021
Before Tax
(Currency: In USD million) tax

Income tax charge/(credit)
Remeasurement loss/(gain) on

benefit Netof tax tax

and its subsidiaries

Financial stetements

Year ended 31 March 2021

The Group
2021 2020
52.56 70.19
(3.35) (0.19)
49.21 70,00
(13.15) (5.88)
- (2.58)
(2.36) 0.11
(15.51) (8.35)
33.70 61.65
2020

Before Tax
expense Net of tax

net defined benefit plans 1091  (2.32) 8.59 (10.78) 2.71 8.07)
Loss /(Gain) on fair valuation

of investments 289.74 — 299.74 (473.29) - 473.29)
Total 310.65  (2.32) 308.33 (484.07) 271  (481.36)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The Group

{Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020
Profit before tax from continuing operations 233.97 32,88
Tax using the Singapore tax rate of 17% (2020: 17%) 39.78 5.59
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 29.58 64.57
(Decrease)/Increase in tax rates 0.08 (0.11)
Tax effect of:
Non-deductible tax expenses 9.60 8.95
Tax exempt income (48.08) (14.27)
Tax credits (including credits pertaining to US

transition tax liability) (2.53) (16.38)
Current-vear losses for which no deferred tax asset is

recognised 8.50 1446
Utilisation of previously unrecognisad tax losses (1.78) (4.44)
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees reported

net of tax (0.66) (3.69)
Others (0.79) 6.97

33.70 61.65
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and its subsidiaries
Financial stoatements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Movement in the deferred tax during the year ended 31 March 2021
The Group
Recognised pursuant Recognisedin  Foreign
As at to husiness other currency Net as at Deferred
1 April combination Recognised in comprehensive (ranslation 31 March Deferred  tax
{Currency: In USD million) 2020 {note 38) profit or loss income impact 2021  tax assets liabilities
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment {26.01) - 12.57 - 0.54y (13.98) 4.68 (18.66)
Intangible assets (9.92) - 7.08 - (0.02) (2.86) (0.18) (2.68)
Leases 0.09 - 0.07 - - 0.16 0.04 0.12
Employee benefits 8.50 - (0.65) 2.37) (0.13) 535 451 0.84
Other items 9.64 - (3.56) - 0.73 6.81 6.33 0.48
Net tax (liabilities)/ assels {17.70) — 15.51 (2.37) 0.04 {4.52) 15.38 {19.90)
Movement in the deferred tax during the year ended 31 March 2024
The Group
Recognised pursnant Recognised in  Foreign
As at to business other currency Netasat Deferred
1 April combination Recognised in  comprehensive translation 31 March Deferred tax
(Currency: In USD million) 2019 (note 38) profit or loss income impact 2020 tax assets liabilities
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment {34.61) - 7.73 - 087 (26.01) 0.21 (26.22)
Intangible assets (11.77) (4.18) 6.00 - 0.03 (9.92) (0.02) {9.90)
Leases (0.20) - 0.29 - - 0.09 - 0.09
Employee benefits 624 -~ (0.03) 2.55 {0.26) 8.50 1.81 6.69
Other items 14.97 0.46 (5.64) - {C.15) 9.64 6.54 3.10
Net tax (liabilities)/ assets {25.37) {3.72) B.35 2.55 049  (17.70 8.54 (26.24)
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Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items, because it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Group can use the benefits
therefrom.

The Group
2021 2020
(Currency: In USD million) Gross amount  Tax effect Gross amount Tax effect

Tax losses 484.01 96,97 455,13 89.57

Tax losses carried forward

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised expire as follows:

The Group

(Currency: In USD million) 2021 Expiry date 2020 Expiry date
Expires 372.26 2022-2038 318.93 2021-2037
Never expire 111.76 - 136.19 -

Provisions movement
The Group
Asset
retirement Environmental
Restructuring obligations  provisions Claims
{Currency: In USD million)

At 1 April 2020 - 0.80 1.15 3.53
Provision recognised during the year 8.38 0.03 145 1.06
Provision utilised during the year (8.53) - @.22) -
Translation difference - 0.05 0.10 (0.02)
At 31 March 2021 - 0.88 2.52 4.57
At 1 April 2019 - 0.81 1.03 0.83
Provision recognised during the year 1.09 0.07 Q.35 270
Provision utilised during the year (1.09) (0.0 (0.15) -
Translation difference - (0.01) (0.04) ~
At 31 Maxch 2020 — 0.80 1.19 3.53
Restructuring

Provisions are related to manpower restructuring in the North America, South America, Europe
and Asia region and this restructuring was completed in 2020.
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Asset Retirement Obligation (“AR0?’) provision

ARO consists mainly of asbestos removal and restoring leased facilities back fo their original
status.

Environmental provisions

The Group is subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to
safety, health and environmental matters in USA. The impact of future changes in such laws and
regulations on the Group cannot be predicted. The provision has been made based on
management's estimate of the environmental costs that the Group is obligated to incur.

Claims

The provision for claims against the Group is recorded based on best estimates made by the
management.

Financials instruments
Accounting classification of financial instruments

The following tables summarise the accounting classification and carrying amounts of financial
instruments:
The Group The Company
Carrying value Carrying value
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2021

Financial assets
Carried at amortised cost:

Cash and cash equivalents (current) 371.41 1.26
Trade and other receivables (non-current and current) 815.04 -
Loan to subsidiaries (current) - 931.32
Loan to subsidiaries (non-current) - 84.55
Inter corporate deposits (current) 256.73 -
Deposits with banks (curent) 2.04 -
Carried at FVTPL:
Investment in unguoted equity shares (non-current) 2,59 -
Convertible promissary note 2.50 -
Investment in quoted Global Depository Receipts (non- Q.15 0.15
current)
Derivatives {current) 8.81 -
Carried at FVOCI:
Investment in quoted equity shares (non-current) 451.50 60.25
Compulsory convertible debentures 102.02 -
Investment in unquoted equity shares (non-current) 181.84 46.21
2,194.63 1,123.74
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The Group The Company
Carrying value  Carrying value
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2021
Financial liabilities
Carried at amortised cost:
Borrowings (current and non-current) 2,757.73 912.69
Trade and other payables (current - excluding derivatives) 805.75 2.03
Preference shares (current and non-current) 734.65 729.00
Carried at FVOCI:
Financial Liability under Option Agreement 4.55 -
Carried at FVTPL:
Derivatives (current and non-corrent) 28.30 -
4,330.99 1,643.72
The Group The Company
Carrying value  Carrying value
(Currency: In USD million) 2020 2020
Financial assets
Carried at amortised cost:
Cash and cash eguivalents (current) 282.39 0.87
Trade and other receivables (non-current and current) 733.29 -
Loan to subsidiaries (current) - 880.33
Inter corporate deposits (current) 311.35 -
Deposits with banks (current} 101.91 -
Investment in fixed income securities (current) 20.51 -
Carried at FVTPL:
Investment in unquoted equity shares (non-current) 6.80 —~
Investment in quoted equity shares {non-current) 0.05 0.05
Invesiments in debt-oriented mutual fund wnits (non- 74.32 —
current and current)
Derivatives (current) 9,14 -
Carried at FYOCI:
Investment in quoted equity shares {non-current) 145.77 22.21
Investment in unquoted equity shares (non-current) 181.30 46.21
1,866.83 949.67
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The Group The Company
Carrying value  Carrying value

(Currency: In USD million) 2020 2020

Financial liabilities

Carried at amortised cost:

Borrowings {current and non-current) 2,990.76 787.69

Trade and other payables (current - excluding derivatives) 543.88 Q.73

Preference shares (current and non-current) 725.00 729.00

Carried at FYTPL:

Derivatives (current and non-current) 45.71 -
4,309.35 1,517.42

The fair value of financial instruments as referred to in note (a) above have been classified into
three categories depending on the inputs used in the valuation technique.

The categories used are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Inputs other than guoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

» Level 3 — Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data

{unobservable inputs)
At 31 March 2021 The Group The Company
Financial instruments at fair
value LevelI Levelll Level III Levell Level I Level III

{Currency: In USD million)

Financial assets at FVTPL:
Investment in unquoted equity

shares (non-current) - - 5.0% - - -
Investment in quoted equity

shares (non-current) 0.15 - - 0.15 - -
Derivatives - g.81 — — - -

0.15 8.8 5.09 0.15 — —

fuiy

Financial assets carried at
FVOCI:

Investment in quoted equity
shares (non-current) 451.50 - - 60.25 - -

Investment in unquoted equity
ghares/CCD (non-current) - -  283.85

— - 46.21
451.50 - 283.85 60.25

46.21
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Financial liabilities at fair
value through OCI
(Equity)
Financial liability under put
option - — 4.55 - - -

Financial liabilities at
FVYTPL:

Derivatives 28.30 - - - —

At 31 March 2020 The Group The Company
Financial instruments at fair

value Levell Level Il Level Il Levell Levelll Level III
{Currency: In USD million)

Financial assets at FVTPL:
Investments in debt-oriented
mutual fund units 74.32 - — - - -
Investment in unquoted equity .
shares (non-current) - - 6.80 - - -
Investment in quoted equity
shares (non-current) 0.05 - - 0.05 - -
Derivatives - 9.14 - - — —
74.37 9.14 6.80 0.05 - -

Financial assets carried at
FVOCI:

Investment in quoted equity
shares (non-current) 145.77 - - 22,21 - —

Investment in unquoted equity
shares (non-current) - 181.30

— — 46.21
145.77 - 18130 22.21

46.21

Financial liabilities at
FVTPL:
Derivatives ‘ - 45.71 - - - —

Calculation of fair values

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are defined as the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. Methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair values are consistent
with those used for the year ended 31 March 2020,

Fair value of derivative instruments is determined based on Mark to Market valuation statements
provided by the Group’s bankers who are the counterparty to such transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other cumrent receivables, borrowings, trade and other

payables have fair values that approximate to their carrying amounts due to their short-term
nature.
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Financial risk management

The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, namely liquidity risk,
market risks and credit risk. The Group’s senior management has the overall responsibility for
the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations.

Trade and other receivables

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited, due to the Group’s
customer base being large and diverse.

The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs of trade receivables from individual
customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2021.

2021
Weighted Gross
average loss carrying Loss Credit

(Currency: In USD Million) rate amount allowance impaired
Current {Not past due) 0.05% 716.16 0.34 No
Past due 1-30 days 0.75% 57.21 0.43 No
Past due 31-60 days 0.67% 577 0.04 No
Past due 61-90 days 0.69% 4.57 0.03 No
Past due over 90 days 95.54% 42.71 40.80 Yes

82642 41.64
2020
Current (Not past due) 0.07% 644,30 0.47 No
Past due 1-30 days 0.05% 40.23 0.02 No
Past due 31-60 days 0.65% 6.17 0.04 No
Past due 61-90 days 1.25% 9.58 0.12 No
Past due over 90 days 70.14% 35.87 25.16 No

736.15 25.81

The ECL calculation for trade receivables is based on a 24-month look at the reserve rates and
write offs related to trade receivables. On a forward-looking basis, the Group has decided to use
the Notch Report and look at worldwide tire & vehicle production report. Rates are calculated
separately for exposures in different segments based on the following common credit risk
characteristics- geographic regions, age of customer relationship.

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year
was as follows.
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Impairment
{Currency: In USD Million)
Balance at 1 April 2020 25.81
Impairment loss recognised 18.05
Amounts written off (2.19)
Translation differences (0.03)
Balance as at 31 March 2021 41.64
Impairment
{Currency: In USD Million)
Balance at 1 April 2019 5.04
Provision taken over pursuant to business combination 17.40
Impairment loss recognised 3.98
Amounts written off (0.92)
Translation differences 0.31
Balance as at 31 March 2020 25.81

Impairment loss recognised mainly relates to a receivable from a government entity related to the
sale of electricity. The USD 2.19 million (31 March 2020: USD 0,92 million) amount written off
relates to trade receivables that were previously reserved for and were written off against the
reserve for trade receivables.

Other financial assets

The Group maintains exposure in cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, investments in
mutual funds with financial institutions and derivative financial instruments. The Group has
concentrated its main activities with a limited number of counter parties which have secure credit
ratings, to reduce this risk. Individual risk limits are set for each counter party based on financial
position, credit rating and past experience. Credit limits and concentration of exposures are
actively monitored by the Group’s management.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 is the
carrying value of each class of financial assets except for derivative financial instruments.

Market risk

The Group’s size and operations result in it being exposed to the following market risks that arise
from its use of financial instruments:

a. interest rate risk;
b. currency risk; and
¢, commodity risk

The above risks may affect the Group's income and expenses, or the value of its financial
instruments. The objective of the Group’s management of market risk is to maintain this risk
within acceptable parameters, while optimising retums. The Group’s exposure to, and
management of, these risks is explained below.
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Inferest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes
in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating
interest rates. The Group manages its interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rates
swaps in which it agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and
variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional principal
amount, The Group has a practice of hedging interest rate risk for external loans only; the Group
does not hedge related party loans.

The Group's fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject to
interest rate risk, since neither the carrying amount nor future cash flows will fluctuate because
of change in market interest rate

Exposure to interest rate risk

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows,

The Group The Company
(Currency: In USD million) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Fixed-rate instruments
Financial assets # 439.10 315.19 972.14 860.00
Financial liabilitics $ (204.00) (178.33) (637.28) (501.92)
235.10 136.66 334.86 358.08

Variable-rate instruments
Financial assets # - 251.90 - -
Financial liabilities $ (2,023.32) (2,278.67) - -

(2,023.32)  (2,026.77) - -
Effect of interest rate swaps 1,375.00 1,368.00 - -

(648.32) (658.77) - -

Total (413.22) (522.11) 334.86 358.08

# includes intercorporate deposits, loan to related party and deposits with banks
$ includes current and non-current borrowings
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

Profit or loss

100 bp 100 bp
{Currency: In USD million) increase decrease
31 March 2021
Variable-rate instruments (20.23) (20.23)
Interest rate swaps 13.75 13,75
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (6.48) (6.48)
31 March 2020
Variable-rate instruments (20.27) 20.27
Interest rate swaps 13.68 (13.68)
Cash flow sensitivity (net) (6.59) 6.39
Currency risk

Following is the derivative financial instruments to hedge the foreign exchange rate risk:

Category 2021 2020

Aggregate amount of outstanding forward contracts 23297 260.03
Gain on outstanding forward contracts 1.12 7.92
Loss on outstanding forward contracts 2.56 1.08

Exposure to currency risk

The currency profile of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020 as below:

The Group 31 March 2021

(Currency: In USD miilion) USD EURO Others

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 125.18 13.68 1.43

Non-~current investments - 77.91 3.14

Long-term loans and advances 408.20 2.83 1.52

Trade and other receivables 59,71 16.06 6.48

Other non-current financial assets 0.70 - 5.00

Other current financial assets 1.78 0.03 0.32
596.57 110.51 17.82
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Financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings 100.25 - -
Short-term botrowings 11.06 21.08 -
Trade and other payables 317.49 27.66 4.17
Other current financial liabilities 23.97 0.05 —
452.77 48.79 4,17
31 March 2020
(Currency: In USD million) UsSD EURO Others
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10.02 0.96 0.27
Non-current investments - 77.91 314
Long-term loang and advances 31043 41.76 152
Trade and other receivables 67.10 21.01 6.69
QOther non-current financial assets 0,95 - 5.16
Other corrent financial assets - .03 0.46
388.50 141.67 17.24
Financial liabilities
Long-term borrowings 103.26 39.10 -
Short-term borrowings 26.03 23.26 -
Trade and other payables 287.83 6.17 2.99
Other current financial liabilities (.99 3.46 —
418.11 71.99 2.99
Sensitivity analysis

A possible strengthening/(weakening) of the functional currencies of the respective entities within
the Group against foreign currencies at March 31 would have affected the measurement of
financial instruments denominated in US dollars and affected equity and profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and purchases.

Profit or loss

Effect in USD million Strengthening Weakening
31 March 2021
USD {5% movement) (7.19) 7.19
EUR (5% movement) (3.09) 3.09
Others (5% movement) (0.69) 0.69
(10.97) 10.97
31 March 2020
USD (3% movement) (1.48) 1.48
EUR (5% movement) 3.56 (3.56)
Others (5% movement) 0.70 (0.70)
2,78 (2.78)
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Commeodity risk

Commodity risk results from changes in market prices for raw materials, mainly feedstock and
energy sold as by-product. Factors of importance to the risk position are the availability and
prices. Costs for raw materials and energy have fluctuated significantly in past years and may
continue to fluctuate in the future. Pricing and procurement risks are managed through structuring
the customer contracts to reduce or eliminate the risk of volatility in prices; abilities to use a wide
variety of feedstock; and optimising procurement and inventory processes.

The commodity trading business of the Group also results in an exposure to commodity price risk.
The Group has put in place risk management strategies and mechanisms to manage this risk. As
part of its risk management practice, in some cases, the Group enters into commodity hedge
contracts to hedge the commodity price risk.

Management of liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face in meeting its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will have
sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due without incurring unacceptable losses. In doing
this, management considers both normal and stressed conditions. A material and sustained
shortfall in our cash flow could undermine the Group's credit rating, impair investor confidence
and alse restrict the Group’s ability to raise funds.

The Group maintained a cautious funding strategy, with a positive cash balance throughout the
year. This was the result of cash delivery from the business, coupled with the proceeds from
borrowings. This cash has been invested conservatively with low risk counter-parties at maturities
of less than six months. Cash flow from operating activities provides the funds to service the
financing of financial liabilities on a day-to-day basis. The Group seeks to manage its liquidity
requirements by maintaining access to global debt markets through short-term and long-term debt
program. In addition, the Group has committed credit facilities for general corporate use.

Carrying 1 year 1-5 More than
(Currvency: In USD million)  amount Total or less years 5 years
The Group
31 March 2021
Non-derivative financial
liahilities
Borrowings # 2,757,713 2,962.18 1,122.93 1,284.38 554,87
Trade and other payables 310.31 822.43 810.20 7.68 4.558
Lease liabilities 20.30 24.82 9,03 10.30 549
3,588.34 3,80943 1,942.16 1,302.36 564.91
Derivative financial
instroments
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging
- Outflow 28.30 28.30 8.50 8.36 11.44
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31 Maxch 2020
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Borrowings * 2,990.76 3,256.31 1,369.42 1,246.86 640.03
Trade and other payables 543.88 569.73 558.64 11.09 -
Lease liabilities 15.25 19.97 4.41 10.27 5.28
3.549.89 3,846.01 1,932.47 1,268.22 645.32
Derivative financial
instruments
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging
- Outflow 9.28 9.28 2.33 5.95 -
* The carrying amount of borrowings is net of transaction costs including bank fees.
Carrying 1 year 1-5 More than
{Currency: In USD million)  amount Total or less Years 5 years
The Company
31 Maich 2021
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Borrowings 912.69 1,008.77 479.41 529.36 -
Trade and other payables 2.03 2.58 2.38 - -
914.72 1,011.35 481.99 529.36 -
31 March 2020
Non-derivative financial
Labilities
Borrowings T87.69 890,98 407.59 7.36 47602
Trade and other payables 0.73 0.73 0.73 - -
788.42 891.71 408.32 7.36 476.02

Subsequent events
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and estimation uncertainty arising therefrom:

COVID-19, declared as a global pandemic by the WHO, began spreading globally towards the
end of the financial year ended 31 March 2020 and affected human life, business and economic
activities, and financial markets. The Group’s operations were affected in several parts of the
world during March 2020 to June 2020 due to either closing the manufacturing facilities and
offices temporarily or operating at reduced rates, to ensure health and safety of employees,
comply with regulatory directions, or manage inventories and transportation and logistical
challenges in moving goods as well as some impact on commodity prices due to the pandemic.
Since then, operations have resumed at all manufacturing facilities in a safe manner.
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The Group also assessed the impact of the pandemic on the recoverability of the carrying value
of its assets such as inventory, {rade receivables, loan receivables, property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets etc. disclosed in the financial statements and currently believes that the
pandemic is not likely to have an adverse impact in this regard.

The Group is closely monitoring the developments and possible effects that may result from the
current pandemic on its financial condition, liquidity and operations and is actively working to
minimize the impact of this unprecedented situation. However, in view of the estimation
uncertainty arising from the unprecedented and constantly evolving nature of the pandemic, the
eventual outcome may be different from that estimated on the date of approval of these financial
statements.

On 21 June 2021, the Company allotted 115,000,000 2.25% Non-Cumnulative Non-Convertible
Redeemable Preference Shares “I” Series for USD 1 each to existing share holder PT. Indo Bharat
Rayon Indonesia. The preference shares are redeemable after 10 years from date of allotment and are
not convertible to ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Capital management

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base 50 as to maintain investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the
retiun on capital (total equity) as well as the level of dividends to ordinary sharehclders.

Senior management seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position.

Acquisitions

In FY 2019-20, a step down subsidiary of the Company, SKI Carbon Black (Mauritius) Limited
(“SKIM™) purchased 100% equity ownership in Swiss Singapore Overseas Enterprises Pre. Ltd.
(SSOE) This acquisition is expected to facilitate the realisation of some synergies in feedstock
purchases, movement of goods and other transactions common to both entities.

While the subsidiary has entered into share purchase agreements with former shareholders on 16
and 17 April 2019, the date of acquisition for purposes of accounting for the transaction is taken
as 1 April 2019 as a more convenient date considering the proximity to the start of the financial
year. The effects of this on profits for the year and goodwill arising on acquisition is not material.

The purchase price paid for acquiring 100% equity ownership of SSOE was TUSD 450.00 million
which has been paid in cash. For the financial year ended 31 March 2020, SSOE contributed
revenue of USD 5.09 billion and profit after tax of USD 0.54 million to the Group’s results.
Summary of net identifiable assets acquired and goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of SSOE is recognised as an asset, being the excess of the
cost of consideration over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired.

The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities used at
the date of acquisition, including goodwill arising from the acquisition.
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(Currency: In USD millions)
Total consideration transferred

Property, plant and equipment
Customer relationship intangibles
Other intangible asset
Investment securities

Trade and other receivables
Inventory

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current asset

Assets held for sale

Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Payables and advances
Retirement obligations
Deferred tax liability

Other current liabilities

Total identifiable net assets

Goodwill

Surya Kiran Investments Ple. Ltd,
and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

450.00

29.90
76.00
0.80
95.02
534.62
216.71
28.36
2.53
10.97
(237.72)
(2.10)
(426.18)
(3.23)
(4.18)
(1.68)
31982

130.18

Goodwill of USD 130.18 million relates mainly to the acquired entity’s workforce and other
synergies. There are no local tax deductions available for goodwill.

The Group’s acquisition-related costs have been included in administrative expenses.

Deconsolidation of a Subsidiary: Jining Chenyang CCJN Chemical

Co., Ltd. ("CTJV') w.e.f. 31 March 2021

In respect of one of the Group’s subsidiaries, Jining Chenyang CCIN Chemical Co., Ltd, which
is legally structured as a joint venture in China and in which the Group holds 51% equity stake,
the Group has exercised a put option to sell its stake to the joint venture partner during the year
ended 31 March 2021. Consequently, the Group has deconsolidated the said subsidiary,

Below is a summary of the assets and liabilities of CTIV that have been derecognised from the

consolidated financial statements of the Group:

(Currency: In USD millions)

Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current asset and prepaids
Total Assets

1542
0.02
0.15
1.73

17.32
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Nen-controlling interest 4.85
Long term borrowings 4,63
Short term borrowings 0.23
Trade and other payables 2.46
Provisions and other liabilities 0.10
Total Liabilities 12.27
Net Assets (Total Assets - Total Liabilities) (A) 5.08
Fair value of Consideration to be received (B) 7.70
Gain on deconsolidation of Subsidiary (B - A) 2.65
Summary of gain recorded in statement of profit or loss
Gain on deconsolidation as above 2.65
FCTR balance transferred to P&L on deconsolidation 0.26
Impairment of loans given to CTJV by the Group (2.61)
Total Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary 0.30

The Group has made an impairment provision on loans and other receivables provided to CTIV
amounting to USD 2.61 Million. Net gain recognised in statement of profit or loss after
impairment of receivables is USD 0.30 Million.

List of subsidiaries

Country of Ownership interest  Ownership interest

Name of Subsidiaries Relation  incorporation held by Group held hy NCI
2021 2020 2021 2020
T %o % %
Elaine Investments Pre, Ltd. Subsidiary Singapore 100.00 106.00 - -
Surya Viniyog Pte Ltd. Subsidiary Singapore 100,60 100.00 - -
Kiran Investments Pte, Ltd. Subsidiary Singapore 52.50 52,30 47.50 47.5C¢
Oriana Investments Pie, Ltd. Step down Singapore 100.00 100.00 - -
subsidiary
Surya Abha Investments Pte. Lid  Step down Singapore 100,00 100.00 - -
subsidiary
SKI Investments Pte. Led. Step down Singapore 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
SKI Carbon Black (Mauritius) Step down Mauritins 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
Limited subsidiary
Indigald Carbon (Maoritius) Step down Mauriting 52.50 52.50 47.30 47.50
Limited subsidiary
Birla Carbon India Private Limited Step down India 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
Birla Carbon Thailand Public Co.  Step down Thailand 19.67 18.96 80.33 81.04
Ltd, subsidiary
Birla Carbon Egypt S.A.E. Step down Egypt 45.69 43.69 54.31 54.31
subsidiary
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Name of Subsidiaries

Indigold {Netherlands) B.V. @#

Indigold Carbon (Netherlands)
B.V.#

Indigold Carbon USA, Inc.

Columbian Chemicals Acquisition
LLC

Birla Carbon U.S.A., Inc.

Columbian International Chemicals
Corporation

Columbian Holding Company

Columbian Technology Company

Bitla Carbon Trading Inc.

Birla Carbon Canada Ltd,

Birla Carbon Brasil Ltda.

CC Holdco {Deutschland) GrbH

Birla Carbon Burope GmbH

Birla Carbon Korea Co., Lid,

Birla Carbon Italy SR.L.

Birla Carbon Spain, §.L.U.

Columbian Chemicals (Weifang)
Holdings S.ar.l.

CC Holdco (Luxembourg) S.r.l.

Indigold Carbon (Hungry) Korlatolt

Felelossegu Tarsasag

Relation

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step dowa
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary
Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Country of

incorporation

Nether]ands

Netherlands

Usa

USA

USA

USA

Usa

USA

USA

Canada

Brazil

Germany

Germany

Korea

Italy

Spain

Luxembourg

Loxembourg

Hungary

Surya Kiran Investinents Ple, Lid.

and its subsidiaries

Financial statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

Ownership interest  Ownership interest
held by Group held by NCI
2021 2020 2021 2020
T % % %

52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
0.00 52.50 - 47,50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
32,50 52,50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52,50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52,50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52,50 47.50 47,30
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
44 .63 44,63 55.37 55.37
52.50 52,50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52,50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52,50 47.50 47.50
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Name of Subsidiaries

Birla Carbon Hungary Ltd
Birla Carbon China (Jining)} Co,
Lid.

Birla Carbon China (Weifang) Co.
Led.

Birla Carbon Japan K.K
Jining Chenyang CCIN Chemical
Co., Ltd.$

Birla Carbon Mexico 8. A, de CV.#
Sevaleo Itd,
Swiss Singapore Overseas

Enterprises Pre. Lid,

Swiss Singapore Shipping Pte Ltd

Safe Ocean Bulk Carriers Pre, Lid.

SSOE Investmenis Pte Lid

Clean Ship Bulk Carriers Pte Ltd

Swiss Singapore (Australia) Pty
Lud. (FKA: Farmers World Pty
Lid)

Swiss Singapore (Shanghai)
Trading Co. Ltd.

Swiss Vistnam International
Company Limited

SSOE Phn The Tea Limited
Company

PT Swiss Niaga Internasional

Myanmar Swiss Singapore
Company Limited

Swiss Singapore (Bangladesh) Lid

Relation

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary
Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary
Step down
subsidiary
Step down
subsidiary

Step down
subsidiary

Country of
incarporation

Hungary

China

China

Japan

China

Mexico

UK

Sinpapore

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

Singapore

Australia

China

Vietnam

Yietnam

Indonesia

Myanmar

Bangladesh

Suerya Kiran Investments Pte, Lid.

ane ifs subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Owmership interest  Gwnership interest
held by Group held by NCI
2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % %o
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.30
42.00 42.00 58.00 58.00
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52,50 52,50 47.50 47.50
26.78 26.78 73.22 73.22
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52,50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 32.50 47.50 47,50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47,50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
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Surya Kiran Investmenis Ple, Lid.

and its subsidiaries
Financial statements
Year ended 31 March 2021
Country of Ownership interest  Ownership interest
Name of Subsidiaries Relation  incorporation held by Group held by NCI
2021 2020 2021 2020
% %o - % %
Swiss Singapore India Private Step down India 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
Limited subsidiary
Swiss Singapore Logistics Pvt. Step down India 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
Ltd. » subsidiary
Swiss Singapore Middle East FZE ~ Step down UAE 52.50 52,50  47.50 47.50
subsidiary
SSOE (Kenya) Ltd Step down Kenya 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
Agricorp Ltd Step down Zambia 52.50 5250 47350 47,50
subsidiary
Agri Inputs, LDA Stepdown  Mozambique 52,50 52.50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
Swiss Singapore (Migeria) Siep down Niperia 52.50 52.50 47.50 47.50
Enterprises Lid subsidiary o
Swiss Singapore Inc. Step down USA 52.50 5250 4750 47.50
(Formerly known as subsidiacy
AmeriBlend Inc.)
Swiss Singapore America Inc. Step down USA 52,50 52.50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
Swiss Singapore Canada Pte Lid Step down Canada 52.50 52,50 47.50 47.50
subsidiary
Swiss DA International Company  Step down Myanmar 26.78 26.78 73.22 73.22
Limited subsidiary

As at 31 March 2021, 58.82% of the share capital of Indigold Carbon Black (Mavritius) Limited is owned by
SKI Carbon Black (Mauritius) Limited, 20.59% is owned by Birla Carbon Egypt §.A.E. and 20.59% by Birla
Carbon Thailand Public Co, Ltd,

@ earlier known &s Indigold Carbon Cooperatief U.A.

# merged with Indigold (Netherlands) BV, w.e.. 27th March, 2021

$ Deconsolidated w.e.f. 31st March 2021

*Entity in liquidation process, Non-operating entity under liquidation,
~ Subsidiary of Swiss Singapore India Private Limited

During the previous year ended 31 March 2020, SKIM acquired $00% of equity in Swiss Singapore Overseas
Enterprises Pte Ltd.
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